



BEYOND BLOCS

Global views on China and US-China relations

Edited by Jacob Gunter and Helena Legarda



No 11 | August 2022

BEYOND BLOCS

Global views on China and US-China relations

Edited by Jacob Gunter and Helena Legarda

Authors: Anu Anwar (Bangladesh) | Pamela Aróstica Fernández (Chile) | Evi Fitriani (Indonesia) | Oyuna Baldakova (Kazakhstan) | Oscar M. Otele (Kenya) | Abdul-Gafar Tobi Oshodi (Nigeria) | Naser Al-Tamimi (Saudi Arabia) | Kadir Temiz (Turkey)

Contents



Introduction: The global struggle to respond to an emerging two-bloc world Jacob Gunter, Helena Legarda	7
China-Bangladesh relations: A three-way balance between China, India and the US	
Anu Anwar	15
Status quo: Evolving as never before	18
Geopolitics: Founded on pragmatism and ambiguity	19
Perceptions: China's economy and neutrality win strong support	20
Outlook: Future friction is possible over trade, water and refugees	21
Chile's once-pioneering relationship with China is turning into dependency Pamela Aróstica Fernández Status quo: Chile has a growing "copper dependency" on China and lacks strategy in the security space Geopolitics: US-China rivalry has a direct impact on Chile Perceptions: Chilean public opinion is at a turning point Outlook: Ongoing pragmatism, growing asymmetry and changing perceptions of China	29 31 31
Indonesia's wary embrace of China Evi Fitriani	37
Status quo: Steady trade flows and limited security cooperation	
Geopolitics: Growing US-China rivalry prompts new protection mechanisms	
Perceptions: A mix of respect, suspicion and caution	
Outlook: Indonesia's emphasis on the Global South offers China diplomatic	

opportunities42

	Kazakhstan's three-way balancing act between competing powers is under pressure
	Oyuna Baldakova
	Status quo: Oil and gas-dependent Kazakhstan needs Russia, China and the West44
	Geopolitics: Kazakhstan cherishes its "multi-vector" foreign policy doctrine49
	Perceptions: China is more popular with elites than with the public
	Outlook: Economic diversification is more urgent than ever
	China-Kenya relations: Economic benefits set against regional risks
	Oscar M. Otele
	Status-quo: Economic ties open the door to more security cooperation5
	Geopolitics: Kenya plays off China and the West for development goals
	Perceptions: Mixed views on China's growing presence
	Outlook: Unsustainable trends in need of revision
	Nigeria sees China as a steady partner and its largest lender
	Abdul-Gafar Tobi Oshodi
	Status quo: economic relations are at the core
	Geopolitics, China, and the United States: Nigeria searches for the best
	pragmatic deals6
	Perceptions: China is seen as a partner despite ups and downs
	Outlook: a cautious China remains an attractive alternative
	Saudi Arabia's once marginal relationship with China has grown into a comprehensive
	strategic partnership
	Naser Al-Tamimi
	Status quo: Cooperation is expanding across many policy issues
	Geopolitics: Seeking a balance between Washington and Beijing
	Perceptions: Growing sympathy with China's political model
	Outlook: Riyadh distances itself from seemingly unreliable Washington79
	Turkey-China relations: Ankara must balance complications on many fronts
	Kadir Temiz
	Status quo: Pulled between China's economic benefits and Western security allies80
	Geopolitics: Navigating the middle path between great powers8
	Perceptions: Turkish views of China are generally positive, with some reservations88
	Outlook: Turkey needs to do some rebalancing due to China's involvement in
	regional issues
	Contributors

KEY TAKEAWAYS

- China's ambitions and international behavior are increasingly felt as challenges to European interests and security and have attracted growing skepticism in European countries. For many EU capitals, systemic rivalry is becoming the dominant framework through which decision-makers look at relations with China.
- This view is not fully shared even within the EU, and it is certainly not universal at the global level. Attitudes towards China's rise are as numerous and varied as the UN's member countries, many of whom take a more critical view of the United States and the West than of China.
- Beijing seeks to exploit this skepticism to deepen ties with the Global South, aware that its ambition to return to global power status by 2049 will hinge on how these countries respond to US-China rivalry.
- Few countries want to take sides in this competition, but they may find themselves pushed to do so at some point. It is therefore imperative for European capitals to understand how the rest of the world perceives a rising China and Beijing's rivalry with Washington.
- Contributors to this study reported on perceptions in Bangladesh, Chile, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Nigeria, Saudi Arabia, and Turkey. All said their countries' ties with China have strengthened over the last decade.
- On US-China rivalry, contributors noted a general tendency to lean towards the United States as a security partner and China as an economic partner. All the countries examined here opposed taking sides; their governments hope to continue seeking out opportunities that arise from US-China rivalry.
- China's economic engagement with each of the eight countries considered here has expanded – through trade, FDI, infrastructure financing and project facilitation – but the trend is overwhelmingly lopsided. China's exports, investment and financing have risen, while flows in the other direction have failed to keep pace in almost every case.
- Security ties with China remain limited for most of the eight, but the trend is towards expansion, both in military-to-military cooperation and in arms imports. Some welcome China as a security partner to lessen reliance on the United States as a security provider.
- China is working to expand its network of friends and partners by leveraging its position across multiple regions as an important economic partner and as a geopolitical alternative – or counterbalance – to the United States and Europe.
- European governments and the European Union should not lose sight of these developments. Growing global bipolarity is certain to have substantial impacts on European interests and security in many countries and regions, often of key strategic importance to the EU.

Introduction: The global struggle to respond to an emerging two-bloc world

Jacob Gunter, Helena Legarda

It's not a question of one country or the other per se; it's really a question of the best deal that we can strike."

Nigerian Foreign Minister Geoffrey Onyeama, November 19, 2021

Even prior to the pandemic and invasion of Ukraine, Europe was struggling to find the best approach to the emerging international dynamics of a post-unipolar world. As the underlying fabric of the rules-based global system gets stretched – between the United States and its partners, China and its growing list of friends, and everyone else in the middle – the sense that a two-bloc world is gradually re-emerging is greater than at any time since the Cold War. It was accelerated by Russia's invasion of Ukraine only a few weeks after China and Russia reaffirmed their "no limits" partnership and committed to solidify their own bloc. European leaders now face some stark realities as the rules-based international order they are used to risks being undermined by this new dynamic.

However, countries all over the world are attempting to respond to shifting global dynamics and a rising China, not just close allies of Beijing or Washington. And Beijing sees what is at stake very clearly: the success or failure of its ambition to regain global power status by 2049 and play a central role in reforming the present international order hangs on how countries outside the traditional "West" respond to its growing strategic footprint and rivalry with the United States.

It is of major importance to European leaders to understand how actors outside the usual grouping of rich, liberal market economies view this changing ecosystem, and how they think about Europe in a complex world of actors who all have agency. To that end, we commissioned eight contributors to describe their countries' views of China and US-China rivalry. Their analyses cover Bangladesh, Chile, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Nigeria, Saudi Arabia, and Turkey. The eight countries were chosen for their geographic and cultural diversity, varied levels of development, different government types and varied degrees of proximity to China.

Contributors universally reported that their countries "do not want to 'choose'" between Beijing and Washington – instead, governments hope to remain in the middle and see what opportunities might emerge out of US-China competition over third countries. However, it is possible these countries may nevertheless be pushed to "choose." There is therefore a pressing need to understand their interests and perspectives better now, rather than after the fact.

More immediately likely, however, is that these eight countries (and others too often overlooked by European leaders) might choose sides in smaller, specific matters under the rulesbased international system. Russia's invasion of Ukraine provided a glimpse as to how such matters can play out. When the UN General Assembly (UNGA) held a vote in early March Countries do not want to 'choose' between Beijing and Washington 2022 on a resolution to condemn the invasion, 141 countries supported it, 35 abstained, and 5 opposed. Of the eight countries selected (prior to the invasion) for this project:

- Abstentions came from Bangladesh and Kazakhstan, countries with close ties to Russia, or to the USSR in the past.
- Two votes in support came from Chile and Turkey, which have mutual defense pacts with the United States; the third, Saudi Arabia, is heavily reliant on the United States as a security provider.
- The remaining three Indonesia, Kenya, and Nigeria also voted in support of the resolution. All have much larger trade flows all of which are surpluses with the United States than with Russia.

From a European perspective, it is worth considering how these eight countries, and others in their respective neighborhoods, might exercise their agency and leverage their positions in multilateral institutions. Or within the emerging blocs, if push comes to shove. Compared with modern Russia, China's vastly larger economic ties with much of the world, coupled with its growing role as a security provider to a swathe of countries, would likely produce very different calculations if UNGA members were asked to vote to condemn something China did. Add to this that Beijing has repeatedly demonstrated willingness to use economic coercion when faced with even minor diplomatic slights. This dynamic begs two questions: would the 141 countries that condemned Russia's invasion of Ukraine do the same if China had been the aggressor? What does Europe need to do to enhance its value in the eyes of such countries to shift the calculus in favor of the rules-based system?

KEY TRENDS: CHINA NARRATIVES IN WESTERN LIBERAL DEMOCRACIES ARE NOT MAINSTREAM IN THE REST OF THE WORLD

Attitudes towards China in the eight countries diverged widely from the mainstream narratives in developed liberal democracies; the same was true of attitudes to US-China tensions. There were several common trends among the eight, though key differences emerged too.

Economic ties with China have expanded in nearly all eight countries since 2012. Trade with China has grown significantly for most during the last decade. Overall volumes have risen by several multitudes for most, but the trend has brought sizable trade deficits with China for all except two – Chile and Saudi Arabia. Several countries saw imports skyrocket while their exports remained flat. Yet looking at overall trade with all partners, China now takes a much larger share of both imports and exports. It has become – for most – either the largest trading partner, or among the largest. Closer business ties, growing trade, and Chinese inbound investment were generally viewed positively, with some exceptions:

- Nigerian companies are concerned at how Chinese imports undercut prices and displace small producers.
- Large companies in Chile view China as an opportunity, but smaller companies struggle to compete, especially footwear producers.

Would the countries that condemned Russia do the same if China had been the aggressor?



*No available data for Bangladesh on UN Comtrade, but China data came from the World Integrated Trade Solution statistics (WITS) and the WTO database, while US data came from the US Customs Office.

Source: UN Comtrade

Introduction

Exhibit 1

© MERICS

Chinese financing and technical assistance in infrastructure projects was widespread in all eight countries and met with a largely positive reception. All the countries studied have signed on to the Belt and Road Initiative: all have railways, ports, airports, and other projects built by China's national champions and funded by China's banks. With some exceptions – Kenya and Kazakhstan – contributors reported limited concerns about the sustainability of debt with China, and the only one that invoked 'debt-trap diplomacy' – Turkey – was concerned about its neighbors falling prey, not itself. Beyond infrastructure investment and financing, there has been significant growth in investment in all eight countries; Chinese companies have established their operations, often at a staggering pace – another almost universally welcomed trend. However, some specific China-supported infrastructure ture projects and investments were viewed as concerning.

- In Kenya, Chinese firms brought in their own security forces and provided special training to Kenyan forces to protect the Standard Gauge Rail project between Nairobi and the port city of Mombasa. While cooperation went smoothly, there were local concerns that this undermined the Kenyan government's role as sole security provider within its own jurisdiction.
- Rumors surrounding the possible relocation of 55 Chinese factories to Kazakhstan in 2019 triggered widespread anti-China protests; people demonstrated about the lack of transparency, pollution fears, rising debt levels and China's mistreatment of Uyghurs and Kazakhs in Xinjiang.

In the security realm, China's security relationship with most of the eight countries remains limited in scope, though it is expanding. Most of these countries have close defense and security ties with the United States, which they are interested in maintaining. Washington was seen as a more reliable security guarantor and – for some – arms provider. This was not true across the board, however. One country – Bangladesh – covered here counts China as its top arms supplier. And US withdrawal from international commitments under the Trump administration made others rethink their dependence on Washington and seek to strengthen security cooperation with Beijing.

- China has become Bangladesh's main source of military equipment, making the country into China's second largest arms export destination.
- Saudi Arabia has expressed concerns about the US wish to disentangle itself from Middle East conflicts, and has found a receptive audience in Beijing, which is reportedly now helping Riyadh build its own ballistic missiles.

Regional dynamics also play a key role in shaping how countries look at China and the opportunities and challenges posed by its growing influence. The importance of other regional players, and of tensions with neighboring countries cannot be overlooked in assessing how countries position themselves amid rising US-China competition.

- For Turkey, its relationship with Russia comes into play. A member of NATO, Turkey has firm security commitments to the Alliance that align it with the United States and Europe. However, Ankara's close ties with Moscow and growing economic ties with Beijing, pull it in a different direction.
- Saudi Arabia's main geopolitical concern is Iran's role in the region which influences how it positions itself vis-à-vis China and the United States.

All the countries studied have signed on to the Belt and Road Initiative Countries that are in closer proximity to China also had concerns that would not trouble those far away.

- Indonesia has regular friction with China over conflicting claims to the South China Sea.
- Transboundary water management and land ownership issues play an important role in China-Kazakhstan relations.

Commonalities also emerged when looking at public perceptions of China across all countries in this study. Elite perceptions were universally improved by Beijing's stance of non-interference in domestic politics, often in direct contrast to the conditionality the United States and Europe can impose on aid and investment. Political, military and business elites tend to see China in a positive light, focusing on opportunities in China's large market and Beijing's status as a possible counterbalance or alternative to the United States for smaller nations. This was true even among Muslim-majority countries included in the study; China's crackdown in Xinjiang seemed to play little or no role for most, but not all, countries in shaping perceptions or policies. The general public also had a positive view of China across most countries, though the global Covid-19 pandemic seems to have worsened public opinion of China in many of them. Overall, China's soft power has generally grown across most countries, but not in certain communities.

- Bangladesh has seen a growth in positive views of China in recent years, though the United States remains extremely popular due to factors like US vaccine donations and the sizeable Bangladeshi diaspora there, which feeds aspirations and sends remittance payments.
- Although five of the eight countries studied are majority-Muslim, plus Nigeria which is roughly half Muslim, only in two have concerns over the treatment of ethnic and religious minorities in the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region (XUAR) had a meaningful impact at the political level.
- Turkey has a large Uyghur diaspora and the affinity of some Turks for their Uyghur brethren (Uyghurs are a Turkic people) has put pressure on various parties to raise the issue.
- Meanwhile, Kazakhstan shares a border with the XUAR, and both its native Kazakhs and Uyghurs have spoken out about Beijing's mistreatment of their fellow ethnic Uyghurs and Kazakhs.

Overall, most countries had high hopes that closer ties with China would bring more opportunities to improve their economic footing and strengthen their geopolitical positioning. But those with the lowest GDP (PPP) per capita – Bangladesh, Kenya, and Nigeria – were more likely to show concern about the sustainability of trade deficits with China. This contrasts with sentiments in richer countries; like Chile, the only country to see a growing trade surplus with China thanks to commodities exports, and Saudi Arabia, which is seeking to invest part of its sovereign wealth fund in China and is considering pricing some oil exports in Chinese yuan.

Nearly all the countries covered follow a consciously pragmatic approach to US-China tensions. Prioritizing their own national interests, they try to avoid taking sides, preferring to take advantage of the contentious relationship between Washington and Beijing to extract deals and beneficial conditions from both. As long as this is a possibility, they will likely try to maintain this approach. Nearly all the countries follow a pragmatic approach to US-China tensions

Exhibit 2



OUTLOOK AND IMPLICATIONS FOR EUROPE: NAVIGATING THE RETURN OF BLOC POLITICS

Avoiding taking sides has served many developing countries well so far, but the strategy may prove unsustainable in the long run. Growing geopolitical tensions, further spurred by Russia's invasion of Ukraine, are changing the picture for smaller nations around the world. As US-China relations continue to deteriorate and a sense of growing bipolarity takes hold, many of the countries covered in this study will find it difficult to maintain their balancing act, for reasons outlined in the country-specific chapters below.

Europe should not lose sight of these developments. While this report focuses on responses to US-China competition, global dynamics are shifting due to Russia's invasion of Ukraine. Beijing is increasingly concerned that a US-led coalition of NATO and its East-Asian partners is forming to contain China's rise. In response, Beijing is stepping up efforts to expand its network of friends and partners in hopes of building a competing (loose) bloc of nations. China will try to leverage its position across multiple regions as an important economic partner and as a geopolitical alternative – or at least counterbalance – to the United States and Europe.

This is sure to have a substantial impact on European interests and security in a variety of countries and regions, many of them of key strategic importance to the EU. First, the expansion of China's footprint and influence in these countries – often at the expense of US and European actors – can impact the rules and norms underpinning the current global order. Beijing hopes to leverage its growing 'circle of friends' to reshape it. Second, China's status as the top trading partner and source of investment and financing for many countries will reduce opportunities for European businesses, and could give Beijing an outsized influence over local governments and stakeholders. Finally, closer security ties between China and many developing nations can work against European interests and security in multiple ways, whether by allowing Beijing to prop up authoritarian regimes or by helping expand China's sphere of influence.

With China's emergence onto the world stage, liberal market democracies are no longer the only game in town for countries seeking security, infrastructure, and development support. It is therefore imperative for Europe to take action to become a more attractive partner, both in material terms and in how it communicates its role in much of the world.

There is considerable space for Europe to strengthen its role as an economic and security partner. Options include training programs and defense diplomacy efforts, or simplified and expanded development investment and financing (progress on the EU's Global Gateway would help). Furthermore, Europe could do a better job of communicating what kind of partner it already is, especially on the economic front, where the EU taken as a whole is a large and longstanding investment partner. The EU also tends to have a more sustainable, and often favorable, trade balance with many countries that run sizeable trade deficits with China. Yet new-arrival China often attracts all the attention with its positioning as *the* economic partner to work with. In this sense, Europe should shift away from a communications strategy of underplaying its role while, as some partners see it, 'lecturing' countries about what they *should* be. Instead, it should emphasize what the scope of the EU's partnership already *is*, as well as what fruit it *could* yield through stronger ties.

To remain a relevant geopolitical actor and protect its own interests and security, Europe will need to play a more active role in current dynamics and become more proactive in the shaping of global coalitions. This is particularly crucial at a time of global uncertainty, when the situation in Ukraine remains in flux, and both China and the United States may shift their trajectories after the 20th Party Congress and the US midterm elections in the fall. The EU and its member states are clearly more aligned with the United States than with China; any talk of equidistance is a thing of the past. But there still room for Europe to strengthen its relationships with partners around the globe, moving beyond the dichotomy of democracies versus authoritarian states, to prevent the further fragmentation of the global order. The growing global bipolarity may not be in Europe's interests, but the trends pointing in that direction are undeniable. European nations will have to find a way to navigate the return of bloc politics in a way that best protects their own interests and security.

Liberal market democracies are no longer the only game in town

Exhibit 3



BANGLADESH

China-Bangladesh relations: A three way balance between China, India and the US

Anu Anwar

BANGLADESH

Country factsheet

MAIN CHINA-BACKED INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS AND HOLDINGS



Sources: MERICS, China's Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Comtrade, SIPRI, AEI China Global Investment Tracker

BANGLADESH

China-Bangladesh relations: A three way balance between China, India and the US

Anu Anwar

In 2021, China's President Xi Jinping sent a congratulatory message to Bangladesh on the 50th anniversary of its independence that encapsulates mutual aspirations for stronger ties in an age of great power competition. Both countries were "at a crucial stage of revitalization and development" when China's "dream of great national rejuvenation can well connect with the "Sonar Bangla" [Golden Bangladesh] dream," China's president said. In 2016, President Xi became the first Chinese president to visit Bangladesh in 30 years. Bilateral relations were not always smooth and warm. China's position towards Bangladesh has evolved over the 50 years since 1971 from hostility into a reluctant embrace and is now a "strategic partnership." Current Bangladesh-China relations rest on a mix of pragmatism, strategic ambiguity, and political accommodation. Bangladesh and China have built a deep interdependence which is tilting increasingly in China's favor.

STATUS QUO: EVOLVING AS NEVER BEFORE

Bangladesh's ties with China have come a long way since the country split from Pakistan, China's ally, in the 1971 liberation war. Cold War realities meant China aligned with Pakistan, its all-weather friend, and opposed Bangladesh's independence. As a permanent member of the United Nations Security Council (UNSC), China used its first veto power to deny UN membership to Bangladesh in 1972.¹ They eventually established formal bilateral relations in 1975 but prior to that China's approach consisted primarily of countering Bangladesh to reassure its ally Pakistan.

Sino-Bangladesh relations have improved steadily since then, evolving into a cornerstone of Bangladesh's foreign policy.² Convergences in their strategic calculations – for instance, their mutual view of India as a common threat – and economic incentives are the principal drivers of improving relations.

Chinese officials made their first high-level visit in 1978, which set off improvements in bilateral relations. Greater momentum came in 2013, with the launch of China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI). Dhaka formally joined the BRI during President Xi's visit to Bangladesh in 2016, when relations were upgraded to a strategic partnership.³ BRI membership has brought Bangladesh an influx of Chinese investment totaling USD 38.05 billion, roughly equal to 10 percent of Bangladesh's gross domestic product, the largest sum ever pledged to Bangladesh by a single country.⁴ China is now Bangladesh's top trading partner,⁵ direct foreign investor, trade importer, and military hardware supplier. In 2020, China also granted duty-free access to its market for 97 percent of Bangladeshi products.⁶

Defense cooperation has been the main building block⁷ in the Sino-Bangladesh relationship: China's economic footprint is a relatively new and an ever-increasing dimension, but defense cooperation has been the main component of the relationship. Since the early 1980s, the two armed forces have engaged in frequent high level official visits and have held China is now Bangladesh's top trading partner joint training and exercises to strengthen cooperation. China has become Bangladesh's top source of military hardware. Dhaka, likewise, is China's second-largest arms export destination, behind only Pakistan.⁸ In the 2010-19 period, China accounted for 72 percent of Bangladesh's total arms imports.⁹

Exhibit 1



GEOPOLITICS: FOUNDED ON PRAGMATISM AND AMBIGUITY

In Bangladeshi geopolitics, India has long been at the center due to its geographic proximity, cultural links and above all its intervention as an ally against Pakistan during Bangladesh's liberation war. Meanwhile as a global power, the United States has exercised the greatest economic and political leverage over Bangladesh. Other regional powers, such as China and Japan, had a more peripheral role until China's rise as an economic and military power cemented its ability and confirmed its willingness to exert influence beyond its borders into South Asia, providing Bangladesh an opportunity for a new partner to the north.

Bangladesh recognized the new opportunity that China represents; *realpolitik* began to dictate its foreign policy calculations, powered primarily by economic incentives. China's appeal lay in the contrast with India's hegemonic posture, coercive tactics, and resource scarcity, especially when garlanded with China's practice of non-interference in Bangladesh's domestic affairs. Massive investments in infrastructure and other sectors sealed China's allure. As Bangladesh-China ties continue to deepen, India worries that its traditional regional partner may follow the same path as Nepal and Sri Lanka which are clearly hedging towards Beijing.

Consequently, Dhaka faces the risk of becoming embroiled in a China-India tug of war for regional influence.¹⁰ It has so far avoided this trap by maintaining balanced relations with both, emphasizing political and cultural affinities with India and economic ties with China.¹¹ This balancing act is growing more challenging as competition between Beijing and

New Delhi for regional influence intensifies. Dhaka therefore views the United States as a strategic 'third-way-balancer' and has proactively reached out to Washington for economic assistance and support in international forums so as to defuse tension and lessen Bangladeshi reliance on India and China.

The United States has exported USD 110 million worth of arms to Bangladesh since 2010, a meagre amount compared to the USD 2.59 billion Bangladesh has spent on Chinese military equipment.¹² Faced with the heated Sino-Indian relationship caused by renewed Himalayan border clashes from May 2020, the United States took a proactive approach to courting Bangladesh. It proposed a military modernization plan, starting with Apache helicopters and missiles.¹³ Deeper security cooperation is of "mutual interest, with full respect for Bangladesh's sovereignty and independence of action" according to Laura Stone, the US State Department's then deputy assistant secretary for South Asia.¹⁴

The United States remains Bangladesh's largest export destination – accounting for 14.5 percent of total exports, primarily garments, which are the country's main export and foreign currency lifeline.¹⁵ Although China has granted duty-free access to 97 percent of Bangladeshi products, its own manufacturing prowess limits the market possibilities for Bangladeshi exports. Germany remains the top export destination for Bangladesh's garment trade, taking USD 6.20 billion – worth of items in 2021; Germany is Bangladesh's second largest market overall, accounting for 14.2 percent of total exports.¹⁶

China is gaining ground in the fierce competition between India and China. In 2015, it displaced India as Bangladesh's top trading partner, knocking India out of the position it had held for 40 years. Imports from China represented 34 percent of Bangladesh's total imports in 2019.¹⁷ Given China was also the origin of Bangladesh's highest investment from a single source, and the bilateral strategic partnership, New Delhi naturally felt it was falling behind. In response, India has deployed a wide variety of tools – rather asymmetric but significant - to counter China's inroads.¹⁸

Bangladesh has long wanted to build a deep-sea port on the Bay of Bengal, giving the project a high priority on the national agenda. China had pursued the Bangladesh government for decades to construct the Sonadia project. However, India's opposition led to the scrapping of the Sonadia project altogether.¹⁹ Recognizing geopolitical realities, Bangladesh welcomed Japanese funding to build a deep-sea port in Matarbari.²⁰ Beijing's purchase of a 25 percent share in Bangladesh's largest stock market, the Dhaka Stock Exchange (DSE), when it outbid India's National Stock Exchange (NSE), took their struggle into new arenas. The sphere of China-India competition expanded from hard infrastructure into soft assets.²¹

PERCEPTIONS: CHINA'S ECONOMY AND NEUTRALITY WIN STRONG SUPPORT

While the Bangladeshi population's perception of China is overwhelmingly positive, the degree of enthusiasm varies among the political, military, and business elites and ordinary citizens. In 2014, the Pew research survey found 77 percent of Bangladeshis viewed China positively, the highest positive rating for all countries. By contrast, India continues to be seen as a potential threat to Bangladesh's security by significant sections of the populace and elites.²² Overall, 43 percent of Bangladeshis prefer the United States as an ally.²³ The lack of national unity and consensus has long been a major stumbling block for Bangladesh's nation building process. The two major political parties – the Awami League and the Bangladesh Nationalist Party – rarely agree on anything except closer ties with Beijing.

The United States remains Bangladesh's largest export destination China owes its popularity to the skillfully created perception that it is politically neutral and non-interfering as it has refrained from public comments on internal Bangladeshi issues.²⁴ As a result, China benefits from general acceptance, which is reflected in political discourse. Bangladeshi leaders are often labelled as "pro-India" or "anti-India" which is not the case for China.

Bangladesh's military and business community tend to be the strongest advocates of deeper Bangladesh-China relations. Military planners see a convergence with China in strategic calculations, given that India engulfs Bangladesh on three sides and hostile neighbor Myanmar shares the only other land border. Likewise, China sees long-term strategic interest in strengthening ties with India's neighbors. It therefore provides sophisticated military hardware at comparatively low prices that Bangladesh could not obtain elsewhere. However, Bangladeshis have reservations about China's ties with Myanmar to weigh against their positive attitude to convergence with China to buffer against India. Nonetheless, military ties with China are long-standing and deep-rooted.

In contrast, ties to China among Bangladesh's business communities are relatively new but evolving fast. They are seeing profits as Chinese investment, trade and exports ramp up across multiple sectors, from physical to digital infrastructure. They have positive perceptions of China; like anywhere else, these business communities seek to influence the outlook of political, military and intellectual elites.

Broadly-speaking, perceptions of China and the United States seem uniformly positive. As Bangladesh is the world's fourth largest Muslim-majority country, predominantly positive views of the United States there contrast with the Muslim world's prevailing perceptions. Among Bangladeshis, 76 percent view the United States favorably, the highest level in the subcontinent.²⁵ However, when it comes to comparisons with India, the perception of China is increasingly positive.

The differing perceptions of these three countries can be seen in responses to the Covid-19 pandemic. China fell short in supplying vaccines to Bangladesh, despite its intense Covid diplomacy, whereas the United States prioritized Bangladesh. The United States donated 38.4 million vaccine doses, while China provided only 5 million.²⁶ Anti-India sentiment rose to its highest level when the Indian firm Serum Institute failed to fully deliver a prepaid government order for vaccines. Bangladesh then had no option except to purchase vaccines from China.²⁷

OUTLOOK: FUTURE FRICTION IS POSSIBLE OVER TRADE, WATER AND REFUGEES

Bangladesh may face further isolation from the West due to its backsliding from democracy. The trend can be seen in recent US actions: for instance, the sanctioning of individuals by the US Treasury Department for human rights violations – a first for Bangladesh.²⁸ Nor was Bangladesh among the 110 countries invited to President Joseph Biden's Democracy summit in December 2021.²⁹ These are unfavorable signs for the current regime, which has shown little appetite for pluralistic society. Such moves may motivate the regime to seek further ties with Beijing, as a potential economic lifeline that comes without criticisms of civil liberties failings.

While Bangladesh-China relations have strengthened considerably, there are three major areas of contention that loom large.

China sees longterm strategic interest in strengthening ties with India's neighbors First, Bangladesh faces the challenge of hosting millions of Rohingya refugees. Beijing has failed to pressure the Myanmar junta as Dhaka had hoped, prioritizing instead China's geopolitical and economic interests in Myanmar. In future, Dhaka's frustration may rise if China maintains its current stance on the Rohingya crisis, with increasing impacts on Bangladesh. The issue could potentially damage China's friendly image in Bangladesh.

Second, the growing trade imbalance with China is a concern for Bangladesh. Although China grants duty-free access to 97 percent of Bangladeshi products, it is inconceivable that Bangladesh can cut its trade gap with the world's factory. In 2018, Bangladeshi imports from China amounted to USD 17.75 billion, while Bangladeshi exports to China were worth only USD 985.41 million, resulting in a trade deficit ratio between Dhaka and Beijing of 1:17.3.³⁰



Third, China's ambition to build dams along the upper Brahmaputra River poses serious concerns for Bangladesh as a downstream country.³¹ The Brahmaputra is among Bangladesh's main water sources for agriculture, forestry, and fisheries; three sectors that together account for 12.5 percent of total GDP.³² If China carries out the plan, it could create a major stumbling block in the warming ties between the two countries.

In conclusion, Bangladesh's strategic choices continue to be shaped by great powers, as they were when Pakistan and India fought a direct war over Bangladesh's independence backed by the United States and USSR. The acceleration of US-China strategic competition Exhibit 2

will influence Bangladesh's options and trajectory. In South Asia, their rivalry increasingly manifests as a competition between China and India, with Bangladesh as the battleground.

Bangladesh seeks to manage these tensions by triangulating within the US-China-India matrix. It pursues cooperation with China as a tool to promote its economic development, while reaching out to the United States as an extra-regional power, to balance the China-India tensions that stem from its close economic links to China. Bangladesh pursues 'strategic ambiguity' in foreign and defense policy by engaging with each country sector-wise. To balance, navigate and position itself, Bangladesh has accelerated its US ties to defuse tensions with the help of a 'third-way-balancer.' It aims to protect itself amid intensifying great-power competition in South Asia as relations between Beijing-New Delhi and Beijing-Washington worsen.

Bangladesh's reaction to Russia's invasion of Ukraine

Russia's invasion of Ukraine added a new layer of unprecedented complexity to Bangladesh's strategic dilemmas in juggling US-China great power rivalries. Dhaka does not take an ideological view of the crisis, seeing it instead as driven primarily by three main factors; 1. Historical ties 2. Realpolitik; 3. Neighborhood syndrome.

The USSR supported Bangladesh in its liberation war, a legacy that remains the dominant factor in Dhaka's foreign policy decisions vis-à-vis Russia. Prime Minister Sheikh Hasina Wazed cited this fact to explain why Bangladesh was among 35 countries that abstained from voting on the March 2 UN resolution condemning Russia. Bangladesh's response to the Ukraine crisis is also a diplomatic continuation of its long-term policy of non-alignment – to stay at arm's length from great power competition and reaffirm its foreign policy stance of "friendship to all, malice to none."

Second, to counter its military dependency on China, Dhaka signed a USD 1 billion arms deal with Russia in 2013 – the country's largest military deal. Moscow is also assisting Dhaka to build a 2,400 megawatt (MW) nuclear power plant in Rooppur, the first of its kind in Bangladesh. The project's total cost is estimated at USD 12.85 billion, 90 percent of it from Moscow. Russia is Bangladesh's fourth-largest source of development funding, partnering in sectors like ready-made garments, agriculture, fertilizer, and military hardware.

Third, Bangladesh is watching, and to some extent following, key partners in its neighborhood that remain neutral and non-committal towards the Ukraine crisis. China, India, Pakistan, and Sri Lanka all abstained on the UN General Assembly resolution condemning Russia's invasion.

ENDNOTES

- 1 | Alden, Robert. The New York Times (1972) "China's First U.N. Veto Bars Bangladesh," August 26. <u>https://timesmachine.nytimes.com/timesmachine/1972/08/26/79474254.html?pageNumber=1</u>. Accessed: January 20, 2022.
- 2 | Peng, Nian, Ghulam Ali and Yi Zhang (ed) 2022. Crossing the Himalayas: Buddhist ties, regional integration and great-power rivalry. Zaman Rashed U, Bangladesh's Quest for Development and the Sino-Indian Contestation, Springer, Singapore <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-5808-2</u>
- 3 | Karim, R. and Liton, S. The Daily Star (2016) "Strategic partners." October 15. <u>https://www.the dai-lystar.net/frontpage/strategic-partners-1298923</u>. Accessed January 20, 2022
- 4 | Mirdha Refayet, The Daily Star (2016). "Deals with China a turning point for Bangladesh," October 17. <u>https://www.thedailystar.net/business/deals-china-turning-point-bangladesh-1299802</u>. Accessed January 22, 2022
- 5 | See: The Financial Express (2019) "BD-China trade to hit \$18b mark in two years," March 16. <u>https://thefinancialexpress.com.bd/economy/bangladesh/bd-china-trade-to-hit-18b-mark-in-two-years-1552742734</u>. Accessed: January 22, 2022
- 6 | See: Dhaka Tribune (2020) "97% Bangladeshi products to get duty-free access to China," June 19. https://archive.dhakatribune.com/business/2020/06/19/5-161-more-bangladeshi-products-to-enjoyzero-tariff-to-chinese-markets-from-july-1. Accessed: January 22, 2022
- 7 | Note: During the 2010-15 period, Beijing provided Dhaka with five maritime patrol vessels, two submarines, 16 fighter jets, and 44 tanks, as well as anti-ship and surface-to-air missiles . Most recently, in 2017 the Bangladesh Navy took delivery of two Ming-class Chinese submarines at minimum price , for 'Forces Goal-2030' to modernize its armed forces as a three-dimensional warfighting force. As Bangladesh's aspiration to modernize its armed forces is likely to accelerate, Bangladesh-China military to military ties have prospects for further improvements.
- 8 | See: China Power, CSIS "How Dominant is China in the Global Arms Trade" <u>https://chinapower.csis.org/china-global-arms-trade/</u>. Accessed: January 22, 2022
- 9 | Bekkevold, J. I. (2021). "India in China's grand strategy, change and continuity from 1949 to present." In J. I. Bekkevold and S. Kalyanaraman, eds., *India's great power politics, managing China's rise*.
 London and New York: Routledge, p. 38
- 10 | Cookson Forrest, Joehnk Ton F, East Asia Forum (2018), "China India's geopolitical tug of war for Bangladesh", April 11 <u>https://www.eastasiaforum.org/2018/04/11/china-and-indias-geopoliti-</u> <u>cal-tug-of-war-for-bangladesh/</u>. Accessed: February 3, 2022
- 11 | Anwar Anu, The Diplomat (2019), "How Bangladesh Is Benefiting From the China-India Rivalry" July 12 https://thediplomat.com/2019/07/how-bangladesh-is-benefiting-from-the-china-india-rivalry/. Accessed: February 3, 2022
- 12 | ANAS A.Z.M. Nikkei Asia (2020) "US uses defense diplomacy to woo Bangladesh away from China," September 22, <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Politics/International-relations/US-uses-defense-diplomacy-to-woo-Bangladesh-away-from-China</u> Accessed: January 27, 2022
- 13 | Hasan Asif M. East Asia Forum (2021) "China's charm offensive in Bangladesh," October 21 https://www.eastasiaforum.org/2021/10/21/chinas-charm-offensive-in-bangladesh/. Accessed: January 28, 2022
- 14 | See: US Department of State Press Briefing with Assistant Deputy Secretary of State Laura Stone, September 15, 2020 <u>https://2017-2021.state.gov/online-press-briefing-with-deputy-assistant-secretary-of-state-laura-stone-bureau-of-south-and-central-asian-affairs-and-joanne-wagner-deputy-chief-of-mission-u-s-embassy-dhaka-bangladesh/index.html</u>
- 15 | See: Bangladesh Profile <u>https://oec.world/en/profile/country/bgd</u>
- 16 | See: Comparative Statement on Export of RMG & Total Export of Bangladesh, BGMEA. https://www.bgmea.com.bd/page/Export_Performance
- 17 | See: country profile: Bangladesh <u>https://oec.world/en/profile/country/bgd?yearSelector2=import-GrowthYear25</u>
- 18 | Note: India announced USD 5 billion in loans for Bangladesh in 2017, which is the largest amount ever invested by India in Bangladesh. When China provided two Ming class Type 035G submarines to Bangladesh's Navy, India responded with a submarine for Myanmar. To court Myanmar and send a signal to Dhaka, India also assists Myanmar's military junta and provides diplomatic support despite global pressure over genocide against the Rohingyas.
- 19 | Ramachandran, Sudha, Bangladesh Buries the Sondia Deep-Sea Port Project, The Diplomat, October 12, 2020 <u>https://thediplomat.com/2020/10/bangladesh-buries-the-sonadia-deep-sea-port-project/</u>
- 20 | Shawon, Ali Ashif, Matarbari deep sea port by 2025, Dhaka Tribune, September 23, 2020 https://archive.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/2020/09/23/matarbari-deep-sea-port-by-2025
- 21 | Kabir, A. Forbes (2018) "China outbids India for Bangladesh's largest stock exchange: May 16, https://www.forbes.com/sites/arafatkabir/2018/05/16/china-outbids-india-for-bangladeshs-largest-stock-exchange-whats-next/?sh=b1af8b47f2c7. Accessed: January 25, 2022
- 22 | Johannes Plagemann (2021) "Small states and competing connectivity strategies: what explains Bangladesh's success in relations with Asia's major powers?" The Pacific Review, DOI: 10.1080/09512748.2021.1908410
- 23 | See: The only survey of its kind ever conducted. PEW research survey (2014) "How Asians view each other" <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2014/07/14/chapter-4-how-asians-view-each-other/</u>
- 24 | Bhattacharjee Joyeeta, Observer Research Foundation (2018), "Decoding China-Bangladesh relationship," June 27 <u>https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/41935-decoding-china-bangladesh-relationship/</u> Accessed: February 3, 2022

25 | Ibid

- 26 | See: China's Covid-19 vaccine tracker <u>https://bridgebeijing.com/our-publications/our-publications-1/</u> <u>china-covid-19-vaccines-tracker/</u>. Accessed: February 3, 2022
- 27 | See: DW (2021) "COVID: Bangladesh faces vaccine shortage as India halts exports," <u>https://www.</u> <u>dw.com/en/bangladesh-india-coronavirus-vaccine/a-57200281</u>. Accessed: February 3, 2022
- 28 | See: Press release of the US Department of the Treasury, December 10, 2021 <u>https://home.treasury.gov/</u><u>news/press-releases/jy0526</u>. Accessed: February 4, 2022
- 29 | See: The Business Standard (2021) "Bangladesh is not invited to Biden's Democracy Summit," November 24 <u>https://www.tbsnews.net/world/bangladesh-not-invited-bidens-summit-democracy-333901</u>. Accessed: February 4, 2022
- 30 | DCCI, Bangladesh-China Bilateral Trade. 2020, Dhaka Chamber of Commerce and Industries (DCCI), Accessed in December 2021: Dhaka Bangladesh; <u>https://www.dhakachamber.com/</u> Database of UN COMTRADE, UN, Editor. 2020: USA; <u>https://comtrade.un.org/</u> WTO Time Series Data (Accessed in December 2020). 2020; <u>http://stat.wto.org/Home/WSDBHome.aspx</u> Bank, B., Bangladesh Bank Open Data Initiative. 2020: Dhaka, Bangladesh (Accessed in December 2021); <u>https://www.bb.org.bd/econdata/</u>
- 31 | Wuthnow Joel, Limaye Satu, Samarnayake Nilanthi; War on The Rock (2020) "Brahmaputra: A Conflict-Prone Rive Takes a Step Backwards" December 23 <u>https://warontherocks.com/2020/12/a-conflictprone-river-takes-a-step-backwards/</u>. Accessed February 4, 2022
- 32 | See: The World Bank data: Agriculture, forestry, and finishing, value added (% of GDP)—Bangladesh https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NV.AGR.TOTL.ZS?locations=BD

CHILE

Chile's once-pioneering relationship with China is turning into dependency

Pamela Aróstica Fernández

Country factsheet

MAIN CHINA-BACKED INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS AND HOLDINGS



Sources: MERICS, China's Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Comtrade, SIPRI, AEI China Global Investment Tracker

CHILE

Chile's once-pioneering relationship with China is turning into dependency

Pamela Aróstica Fernández

Chile was a pioneer in Latin America's relationships with China. It has the highest number of instruments of association and cooperation with China at the Latin American level and built the bilateral relationship around pragmatism and economic cooperation. The pragmatic trend is likely to continue, though Chile's asymmetrical relations with China may well be accentuated under President Gabriel Boric's left-wing government, formed on March 11, 2022. He inherits Chile's institutional weaknesses and crisis-prone economy.¹ The Chilean communist party (PC) plays a strong role in his government (ministers, under-secretaries and advisers in more than half the ministries, in the Presidency, Defense, Interior, General Secretary of Government, Finance, Labor, Sciences, Energy, Mining, Education, Justice, Transport and Communications).² Furthermore, PC ties with the Chinese communist party (CCP) could influence Boric's stance towards international relations, specifically US-China rivalry. The new government has already ceased to criticize the war in Ukraine. China's presence in Chile will continue to grow. However, public opinion is also shifting and has become increasingly critical of the relationship.

STATUS QUO: CHILE HAS A GROWING "COPPER DEPENDENCY" ON CHINA AND LACKS STRATEGY IN THE SECURITY SPACE

China has continued to consolidate its position as Chile's main trading partner. In 2021, China accounted for 38.3 percent of Chilean exports, while the United States was second with 16.4 percent; the EU took 8.6 precent, Japan 7.7 percent and the four-nation regional Mercosur trade bloc 6.2 percent.³

In 2021, Chile's bilateral trade with China rose to USD 57.72 billion, up 39.8 percent on 2020, according to Chile's National Customs Service. The growth was due to a substantial rise in Chile's imports of Chinese products, which in 2021 totaled USD 25.56 billion, representing an increase of 68 percent year-on-year. China is now positioned as Chile's largest source of imports, accounting for 29.2 percent of the total. Meanwhile, Chile's exports to China were worth USD 35.42 billion in 2021, up 31 percent on 2020. China therefore remained the main buyer of Chilean products, taking 38.4 percent of Chile's total exports.⁴

The trade balance between the two countries is nominally favorable to Chile, but is largely dependent on mineral exports. Mining made up 84.4 percent of Chile's shipments to China. Copper minerals and their concentrates rose 62.9 percent in 2021. Non-mining products accounted for just 15.6 percent of exports, of which forestry products formed more than a third.⁵ Chile's export basket is much more limited than China's.

Investments from China rose by 167 percent to USD 4.85 billion in 2019. The number of projects rose by 55 percent compared to 2018, with 31 initiatives registered at the end of 2019. Chinese investments are mainly directed at: 1) natural resources (focused on materials for non-conventional renewable energy); 2) construction (with a focus on concessions)

China has continued to consolidate its position as Chile's main trading partner and 3) the financial sector. China has become the main foreign investor in Chile, overtaking the United States and Canada.⁶ However, China's interests in Chile have sparked objections, as they are in strategic sectors, prompting parliamentarians from both left and right to advocate greater regulation of foreign investment.⁷

In 2021, the Financial Market Commission authorized China Exim Bank to operate in Chile, making it the third Chinese bank in Chile, alongside Bank of China (2018) and China Construction Bank (2016). All three banks regard Chile a suitable location to host their regional platforms thanks to its digital eco-system and skilled workforce. All three focus on corporate banking; their target clients are Chinese companies operating in Chile, large Chilean companies and export and import companies trading between the two countries.⁸

Two decades ago, Chilean foreign trade was directed mainly to North America, Asia and Europe, in a balanced way. The data shows a trend towards greater dependence on a single market has been emerged over the last decade; Chile's accentuated dependence on China and on a single product has been called "copper dependency."⁹ China's growing demand for raw materials means this trend will intensify, along with Chile's vulnerability to Chinese economic slowdowns.

Military cooperation with China has gradually increased in strategic areas, especially military exchanges consisting of official visits from senior military figures, training exchanges and visits to military units. For instance, in 2013, a Chinese naval task force conducted joint military exercises with their Chilean counterparts, before passing through the difficult waters of the Magellan Strait to make port calls in Argentina and Brazil. In 2019, the PLA Navy icebreaker Xue Long II made its maiden voyage to Antarctica.¹⁰ China is currently in talks with Chile to gain access to Punta Arenas so it can resupply its Antarctic bases from there.

Sharply rising financing for China's Antarctic Program is another trend likely to affect the region's geopolitical environment. Argentina and Chile are fundamental to China's geostrategic perspective, because of their proximity to Antarctica and because they have the largest, oldest, permanent Antarctic bases capable of operating non-stop throughout the year – Orcadas de Argentina base, set up in 1904, and Captain Arturo Prat of Chile, 1947.¹¹

In the space sector, the Chinese Academy of Sciences' South American Astronomy Center (CASSACA) stands out as it was among the first International Research Centers financed by China's government. CASSACA began operating in Santiago in October 2013 from offices located atop Cerro Calán, next to the National Astronomical Observatory and the University of Chile's Department of Astronomy.¹²

China's initiatives are driven by a macro strategy embodied in White Papers on Latin America and the Caribbean, produced in 2008 and 2016. The White Papers establish China's objectives and priorities for the short, medium and long term and highlight the region's growing importance for Chinese foreign policy. Topics covered include geostrategic, political, economic-commercial, military, cooperation, education and cultural matters. By contrast, there are hardly any instances of debate in Chile about the appropriate scope of military cooperation with China. The new leftist government of President Boric and his Minister of Defense Maya Fernández (Socialist Party) is likely to shrink the minimal spaces for debate that exist, such as the National Academy of Political and Strategic Studies (ANEPE). These may cease to be spaces for professional and academic analysis¹³ because despite President Boric's campaign promises "the appointments he has made to the front line of the government have not been exempt from criticism for prioritizing political quota,"¹⁴ which suggests a trend towards greater political clientelism. Argentina and Chile are fundamental to China's geostrategic perspective Chinese investment in Chile's critical infrastructure is another under-considered issue. Currently, Chinese companies control an unprecedented 57 percent of electricity distribution. The growing Chinese presence in Chile's digital architecture is also a concern for the intelligence services.¹⁵

GEOPOLITICS: US-CHINA RIVALRY HAS A DIRECT IMPACT ON CHILE

The United States and China are Chile's main trading partners, so any sustained negative effect on their economies has a direct impact on Chile – specifically, on the price of copper. If tariffs hurt US demand for Chinese goods, then China needs less key industrial raw materials such as copper, which dampens Chile's exports.¹⁶ A domino effect is generated because once Chilean exports contract so do mining investments, the public portfolio, private accounts and the labor market. If Chile's exports and consumption fall, rating agencies may downgrade the country's credit rating. Chile would then have to pay higher interest rates on capital market funds, with further negative impacts on large and small companies.

Concerns also exist about the Digital Silk Road, 5G technology and possible consequences for data handling. Chinese firms invest in the technology sector because they consider Chile has acquired leadership in digitalization within Latin America, and so has a good infrastructure and human resources base to run regional operations.¹⁷ For instance, Huawei's Data Center opened its second data center in Chile in 2020, focused on AI and Big Data services. Chinese interests in Chile have generated public debate, along with US pressure to revoke the Visa Waiver.¹⁸ In 2021, the tender for Identity Card and Passports in the Civil Registry was awarded to Aisino (one of China's top five tech firms) but later withdrawn under public pressure.¹⁹

US influence in the Southern Cone has declined in the last two decades relative to China's. However, Washington's presence has become more visible in recent years, because of its struggle with China in a region of traditional US influence. Chile's position has been to maintain equidistance and pragmatism vis-à-vis the two powers, given its asymmetric relationship with both of them. But the important role of the Chilean communist party (PC) within the new government and its greater closeness to China may change this policy framework.

PERCEPTIONS: CHILEAN PUBLIC OPINION IS AT A TURNING POINT

When considering perceptions of China in Chile, it is important to distinguish between the Chilean authorities' official discourse and that of non-official elite groups. Official discourse is marked by a positive perception of China. It lauds Chile's first place position in the Latin American context and the "special relationship." This narrative flows from Chile's pioneering status in forging relations with China: in 1970, it was the first country in South America to establish diplomatic relations with China, and the second at the Latin American level. In 1982, Chile was the first Latin American country to agree a joint venture with China in 1982; it was the first Latin American nation to support China's entry to the WTO in 1999; then to recognize China as a market economy in 2004; and to sign a Free Trade Agreement (FTA) in 2005. Chile has the largest number of instruments of association and cooperation with China at the regional level. A domino effect is generated once Chilean exports contract However, though the official discourse of political and diplomatic elites manifests positive perceptions, there is also a non-official discourse. Here, the perceptions of the same elites are permeated by mistrust and fear towards China, due to the disparity in capabilities and accentuated asymmetry in multiple fields (geopolitical, diplomatic, political, economic, etc.).²⁰ Chile agreed to "comprehensive strategic association" status in 2016. However, a requirement to obtain that status was that Chinese officials should hold coordination meetings with counterparts in key Chilean ministries such as mining and agriculture. Distrust of this mechanism forms part of the unofficial narrative.

Political and academic actors also view the strengthening of the military dimension in bilateral relations with concern. They cite the increase in military cooperation with China, interests in Antarctica as a key geopolitical point, joint military exercises, and China's sales or donations of military equipment to Chile.

In the corporate sector, positive or negative perceptions of China tend to correlate with the degree of success or opportunity that China represents for businesses. Among large business associations (exporters of raw materials and importers of Chinese manufactures), China is perceived as a "source of opportunities" – especially since the FTA and boom in demand for raw materials. But perceptions differ among small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs); negative perceptions are at their strongest in the local footwear sector, which has almost disappeared due to Chinese competition. Although perceptions vary among sectors, there is a common denominator; the sense that China is an increasingly dominant and complex counterpart, due to different economic and cultural variables involved in business processes.

The 2014 "The Americas and the World" survey found 25 percent of the Chilean public considered China a "friendly country," and 67 percent considered it a "partner country". Favorable opinions towards China are also seen in how Chileans rate its influence in their country: In 2013, 75 percent believed China had a very positive or positive influence in Chile and only 8 percent saw a very negative or negative influence (CIDE, 2014). The trend remains. More recently, China has begun pursuing a strategy to enhance its positive image in the Chilean media (using paid space for inserts in the local press), which has increased its cultural influence. Chile has also seen a recent wave of Chinese migration – it was among the 10 most important migratory flows in 2010.²¹

However, Covid-19 was a turning point in the decade-long positive perceptions of the "China Boom." Broad public opinion perceives China as "guilty" of the pandemic and trying to make amends with the "diplomacy of masks and vaccines," which has been a theme in various opinion blogs. There have also been negative perceptions surrounding the award of key tenders, such as for passports in the Civil Registry, which was then reversed.

In any case, it is key to consider that the study "China In The World 2022" places Chile among the 15 countries most influenced globally by China in the media, economy and local politics, and therefore has a clear impact on perceptions.²²

OUTLOOK: ONGOING PRAGMATISM, GROWING ASYMMETRY AND CHANGING PERCEP-TIONS OF CHINA

The backbone of Chilean state policy towards China has been pragmatism based on economic and trade relations. It is possible that this pragmatism will continue with the center-left coalition of President Boric, but it is very likely that asymmetry in the bilateral relationship Perceptions of China tend to correlate with the degree of success that China represents will be accentuated, given Chile's greater institutional instability, a new constitution giving more powers to the regions (in line with a referendum under the previous president),²³ and the potential for economic and fiscal crises. The current government has given a key role to the Chilean communist party (PC),²⁴ is very close to the Chinese communist party (CCP) and takes a favorable view of China.

The growth of Chinese investment in Chile has caused a series of negative perceptions and public criticisms. Parliamentarians (from left and right parties) led by Jaime Naranjo from Partido Socialista (PS), and Miguel Mellado from Renovación Nacional (RN) have expressed their concern at how the Chinese state company State Grid now controls more of half of Chile's electricity distribution market. They have presented a bill highlighting the strategic nature of the electricity sector and their concerns that State Grid will hold the personal data of 4 million customers. They argue their action is not "against the Chinese State but against any State," nor is it an anti-investment law, because it does not target private firms, "but it is very different when another State invests as such. That must be regulated so that tomorrow we don't get any kind of surprise."²⁵

China is currently impacting Chile though foreign investment; as an exporter of manufactured goods; as a buyer of raw materials, thereby intensifying Chile's dependence on commodities (especially copper); as an investor in infrastructure to ensure access to markets, raw materials and energy resources. But though Chinese investment has gained prominence in some areas, such the energy sector, its participation in foreign direct investment (FDI), remains limited compared to the United States and other Western countries with historical influence in Chile.²⁶

China's soft power in Chile manifests itself in different ways to influence public views. In this regard, it would be necessary to review the influence of China in the media through paid sections in the local press, as well as influence in the academic sector to counter critical analysis through the financing of projects, scholarships or infrastructure (even in public universities).

And finally, the advance of Chinese investment within strategic sectors such as energy, mining, technology and telecommunications, banking and health is a key issue. Two recent examples are that Sinovac will install a 'Fill and Finish' facility to convert bulk vaccines into doses,²⁷ and the award in January 2022 to Chinese vehicle battery maker BYD Chile SpA10 of one of five lithium exploitation quotas tendered by Chile.²⁸ BYD provides electric buses for Santiago's public bus network RED Metropolitana de Movilidad.

Chinese investment in Chile has caused a series of negative perceptions

Chile's reaction to Russia's invasion of Ukraine: The dilemmas of the Boric government

This war is taking place in a context of high global uncertainty in the world, "(...) relating to several factors: uneven rates of vaccination against coronavirus disease (Covid-19) and new variants of the virus; inflationary pressure and difficulty in maintaining fiscal stimulus packages; trade tensions and risks in the Chinese real estate sector; disruption of supply chains and rises in freight charges; and extreme events caused by climate change."²⁹

Chile's position on the war in Ukraine has undergone a change. The day war began on February 24, 2022, the then-President Sebastián Piñera condemned Russia's invasion, saying "these acts violate international law and threaten innocent lives, peace and security." He urged Russia to respect the Geneva Conventions on international humanitarian law.³⁰ In contrast, at the beginning of President Boric's term, his silence was criticized in the National Congress' Chamber of Deputies, which expressed "concern at the silence of the President of the Republic" and those in charge of "the design and conduct of foreign policy, in relation to the invasion of Ukraine."³¹

In the new government coalition, the Communist Party (PC) plays a key role and has sympathy for autocratic regimes. The Minister of Foreign Affairs (close to the Socialist Party) argued on May 3 about the importance of multilateralism and that isolating Russia could accentuate the conflict.³² Nevertheless, on July 1, 2022, President Boric reportedly had a telephone conversation with President Zelenskiy during which he expressed Chile's willingness to support the condemnation of Russia in international organizations and offered humanitarian aid. The possibility of sending Chilean specialists to Ukraine to participate in demining operations was also discussed.

Chile's post-pandemic recovery expectations for 2022 will be affected by the war in Ukraine, and uncertainty will be a key factor that will weaken national economic activity. If the war is long drawn out, it could have a significant impact on Chile's economy, with a complex inflationary scenario and rising prices for food, transportation and energy. One of the main impacts will be the global food crisis.

Therefore, "(...) a strict fiscal design [is necessary] to complement monetary policy, which can mitigate the inflationary effects."³³ But this fiscal adjustment will be another dilemma for President Boric, due to the multiple promises of social reform in his government program.

ENDNOTES

- 1 | The Guardian (2022), Gabriel Boric, 36, sworn in as president to herald new era for Chile. 11 Mar. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/mar/11/gabriel-boric-chile-president-new-era</u> Accessed: June 10,2022.
- 2 | El Líbero (2022), El Comité Central del PC captura bastiones del gobierno de Boric con foco en Apruebo y refundación. 23 de mayo. Available at: <u>https://ellibero.cl/actualidad/el-comite-central-del-pc-captura-bastiones-del-gobierno-de-boric-con-foco-en-apruebo-y-refundacion/</u>. Accessed: May 25, 2022.
- 3 | Subdirección de Relaciones Económicas Internacionales. SUBREI. Gobierno de Chile (2022), "Comercio exterior de Chile crece 41% en 2021 impulsado por envíos no cobre y servicios." 07 de enero. Santiago. Available at: <u>https://www.subrei.gob.cl/sala-de-prensa/noticias/detalle-noticias/2022/01/07/comercio-exterior-de-chile-crece-41-en-2021-impulsado-por-env%C3%ADos-no-cobre-y-servicios.</u> Accessed: March 30, 2022.
- 4 | Servicio Nacional de Aduanas. Gobierno de Chile (2022), "Diario Financiero: Intercambio Chile-China salta en 2021 gracias a las importaciones." 18 de enero. Santiago. Available at: <u>https://www.aduana.cl/diario-financiero-intercambio-chile-china-salta-en-2021-gracias-a-las/aduana/2022-01-18/150942.</u>
 <u>html</u>. Accessed: June 27, 2022.
- 5 | Ibid.
- 6 | InvestChile. Ministerio de Economía. Gobierno de Chile (2021), "China lidera visas para inversionistas."
 27 de Julio. Santiago. Available at: <u>https://blog.investchile.gob.cl/bloges/china-lidera-visas-para-inversionistas</u>. Accessed: January 18, 2022.
- 7 | Emol (2021), "Chile como destino favorito para la inversión china en la región: Expertos analizan el "enganche" con el gigante asiático." Santiago, 10 de Agosto. Santiago. Available at: <u>https://www.emol.</u> <u>com/noticias/Economia/2021/08/10/1029162/chile-atractivo-inversiones-china.html</u>. Accessed: March 28, 2022.
- 8 | Bank of China (2018), Agencia en Chile. Available at: <u>https://www.bankofchina.com/cl/es/aboutus/</u> <u>ab1/201803/t20180322_11786200.html</u>. Accessed: January 17, 2022.
- 9 | Meller, P. (2013), *La viga maestra y el sueldo de Chile. Mirando el futuro con ojos de cobre*. Santiago: Editorial Uqbar. pp. 1-15.
- 10 | Ellis, E. (2021), "China y su avance militar estratégico en Argentina / China's Strategic Military Advance in Argentina." Red China y América Latina: Enfoques Multidisciplinarios (REDCAEM), Columna sobre Geopolítica y Geoestrategia, 1 de noviembre. Available at: <u>http://chinayamericalatina.com/china-y-su-avance-militar-estrategico-en-argentina/</u> Accessed: March 10, 2022.
- 11 | Council of Managers of National Antarctic Programs (COMNAP) (2009), "Antarctica and the Southern Ocean: main Antarctic facilities operated by the National Antarctic Programs in the Antarctic Treaty area (south of 60° latitude south)." Kingston, Tasmania: COMNAP.
- 12 | Embassy of the People's Republic of China in Chile (2022), "China y Chile unidos por las estrellas." Santiago, 22 de febrero. Available at: <u>http://cl.china-embassy.gov.cn/esp/zggx/kjww/202202/</u> <u>t20220222_10644241.htm</u>. Accessed: April 1, 2022.
- 13 | El Mostrador (2022), "La ministra de defensa tiene la palabra." 17 de abril. Available at: https://www.elmostrador.cl/noticias/opinion/2022/04/17/la-ministra-de-defensa-tiene-la-palabra/. Accessed: April 17, 2022.
- 14 | El Líbero (2022), "'Premios de consuelo': Un tercio de la primera línea del gobierno de Boric acaba de perder una elección." 6 de abril. Available at: <u>https://ellibero.cl/investigacion/premios-de-consuelo-un-tercio-de-la-primera-linea-del-gobierno-de-boric-acaba-de-perder-una-eleccion/</u>. Accessed: April 17, 2022.
- 15 | Ellis, E. (2022a), "Riesgos del compromiso chino en las Américas." Available at: <u>https://dialogo-americas.com/es/articles/riesgos-del-compromiso-chino-en-las-americas/#.Yl2l-63eW_t</u>. Accessed: April 18, 2022.
- 16 | Biobiochile.cl (2020), "Los efectos en Chile del acuerdo comercial de China y EEUU: "Si ellos andan bien, también nosotros." 16 de enero. Available at: <u>https://www.biobiochile.cl/especial/lo-que-debes-</u> saber-hoy/2020/01/16/los-efectos-en-chile-del-acuerdo-comercial-de-china-y-eeuu-si-ellos-andan-bi-<u>en-tambien-nosotros.shtml</u>. Accessed: April 14, 2022.
- 17 | BCN. Biblioteca del Congreso Nacional de Chile (2022), Inversión de China en Chile: análisis de IED de China en la última década." 8 de marzo. Available at: <u>https://obtienearchivo.bcn.cl/obtienearchi-vo?id=repositorio/10221/32890/1/Inversion de China en Chile.pdf</u>. Accessed: March 15, 2022.
- 18 | Interferencia (2022), "Aisino se retira de Chile a cuatro meses de perder licitación impugnada por sus competidores." 20 de abril. Available at: <u>https://interferencia.cl/articulos/aisino-se-retira-de-chile-cuatro-meses-de-perder-licitacion-impugnada-por-sus-competidores</u>. Accessed: April 22, 2022.
- 19 | La Tercera (2021), "Licitación de pasaportes: Aisino refuta al Registro Civil y aclara que cumplió todas las exigencias." 20 de noviembre. Available at: <u>https://www.latercera.com/pulso/noticia/licitacion-de-pasaportes-aisino-refuta-al-registro-civil-y-aclara-que-cumplio-todas-las-exigencias/NVCHK2A-ZZNHW5FPLXZ6V5RAJOM/</u>. Accessed: April 2, 2022.
- 20 | Aróstica, P. (2021), "China and Chile 50 years of relationships: Asymmetries, perceptions and perspectives." In: Noesselt, N. (Ed.) China's Interactions with Latin America and the Caribbean. Conquering the US's Strategic Backyard? Baden-Baden, Germany: Tectum Verlag. pp.141-162.

21 | Ibid.

22 | La Tercera (2022), "Estudio ubica a Chile entre los 15 países más influenciados a nivel global por China en medios, economía y política local." 5 de mayo. Available at: <u>https://www.latercera.com/mundo/</u> <u>noticia/estudio-ubica-a-chile-entre-los-15-paises-mas-influenciados-a-nivel-global-por-china-en-medios-economia-y-politica-local/4Q5WSHLI7JCP7KU70KDG42T5WU/</u>. Accessed: June 10, 2022.

- 23 | Castro, M. & Critchley, A. (2022), "Chile's Gabriel Boric Sworn-In, Faces Major Economic and Political Challenges". *Bloomberg en linea*, 11 de marzo. Available at: <u>https://www.bloomberglinea.</u> <u>com/2022/03/11/chiles-gabriel-boric-sworn-in-faces-major-economic-and-political-challenges/</u>. Accessed: March 30, 2022.
- 24 | Paúl, F (2021), "Gabriel Boric: ¿cuánto peso tendrá el Partido Comunista en su gobierno?" BBC *News Mundo*. 20 de diciembre. Available at: <u>https://www.bbc.com/mundo/noticias-america-latina-59725321</u>. Accessed: April 15, 2022.
- 25 | La Tercera (2020), "Arremetida china en la energía de Chile empuja a diputados a presentar proyecto para reglar participación extranjera en sectores estratégicos." 2 de diciembre. Available at: https://www.latercera.com/pulso/noticia/arremetida-china-en-la-energia-de-chile-empuja-a-diputados-a-presentar-proyecto-para-reglar-participacion-extranjera-en-sectores-estrategicos/NA26W6AW-J5HPHDVHJQVTD5L524/. Accessed: March 30, 2022.
- 26 | Biblioteca del Congreso Nacional de Chile (2022), Inversión de China en Chile: análisis de IED de China en la última década." 8 de marzo. Available at: <u>https://obtienearchivo.bcn.cl/obtienearchivo?id=repositorio/10221/32890/1/Inversion_de_China_en_Chile.pdf</u>. Accessed: March 15, 2022.
- 27 | Ibid.
- 28 | France24 (2022), "Chile adjudica por USD 121 millones explotación de litio a empresas china y chilena". 12 de enero. Available at: <u>https://bit.ly/3KkYlj9</u>. Accessed: April 14, 2022.
- 29 | CEPAL (2022), The economic and financial effects on Latin America and the Caribbean of the conflict between the Russian Federation and Ukraine. Santiago, April. Available at: <u>https://hdl.handle.</u> <u>net/11362/47832</u>. Accessed April 18, 2022.
- 30 | El Mostrador (2022), "Presidente Piñera rechaza conflicto armado en Europa: "Chile condena la agresión armada de Rusia y su violación a la soberanía e integridad territorial de Ucrania". 24 de febrero. Available at: <u>https://www.elmostrador.cl/dia/2022/02/24/presidente-pinera-rechaza-conflic-to-armado-chile-condena-la-agresion-armada-de-rusia-y-su-violacion-a-la-soberania-e-integridad-territorial-de-ucrania/</u>. Accessed: May 1, 2022.
- 31 | Emol (2022), "Cámara de Diputados repudia invasión de Rusia a Ucrania y pide a Gobierno revisar la relación internacional con el Kremlin". Santiago, 3 de Mayo. Available at: <u>https://www.emol.com/noticias/Nacional/2022/05/03/1059850/diputados-ucrania-rusia-relaciones-chile.html</u>. Accessed: May 3, 2022.
- 32 | Ibid.
- 33 | López, A. (2022), "Explican posibles impactos económicos en Chile por conflicto Rusia-Ucrania".
 3 de marzo. Available at: <u>https://www.utalca.cl/noticias/explican-posibles-impactos-economicos-en-chile-por-conflicto-rusia-ucrania/</u>. Accessed: April 18, 2022.
Indonesia's wary embrace of China

Evi Fitriani

INDONESIA

Country factsheet

MAIN CHINA-BACKED INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS AND HOLDINGS



Sources: MERICS, China's Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Comtrade, SIPRI, AEI China Global Investment Tracker

Indonesia's wary embrace of China

Evi Fitriani

The two strongest factors shaping Indonesia's relations with China today are domestic politics and the long-established Chinese diaspora, which is economically influential despite being only 3 percent of the population, Indonesia's relations with China have swung sharply during the last 70 years, veering from close allies (1950s-1965) to enemies (1966-1990), to distant associates (1990-2014), to their current close partnership. Ethnic Chinese Indonesians have often played a part in promoting, or impeding, their country's relations with China.

STATUS QUO: STEADY TRADE FLOWS AND LIMITED SECURITY COOPERATION

China has been Indonesia's biggest trading partner since they signed the Indonesia-China Strategic Partnership in 2005. Trade flows increased steadily, turning in 2008 into a rising trade deficit for Indonesia. Indonesian exports are dominated by intermediate goods (37.33 percent) and raw materials (33.43 percent).¹ Intermediate goods also form the largest share of Indonesian imports from China (31 percent), followed by consumer goods (18.79 percent).²

Two-way investment remained slight until it was boosted by President Joko Widodo and President Xi Jinping (who have a close personal relationship), leading to a surge in investment under China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI). Inbound investment from China, including Hong Kong, in 2019-2020, ranked second after Singapore.³ Chinese investment in Indonesia is concentrated in mining and the energy sector. As of 2021, Indonesia had the highest number of Chinese-built overseas coal-fired powerplants.

There are growing concerns among the Indonesian public about the influx of Chinese goods and migrant laborers, and about Indonesia's inability to seize business opportunities in China's market. The biggest Chinese investment project – the Jakarta-Bandung high speed railway – has become controversial due to project delays and cost overruns.

The role of ethnic Chinese Indonesians cannot be underplayed, as they are the main actors in economic relations between the two countries and, arguably, the ones who have benefited most from the relationship. Resentment of Chinese investment on perceived unequal terms also encompasses the Chinese diaspora and can generate domestic political frictions.

In the security sphere, the two countries have set up multiple confidence-building platforms, including the Annual Indonesia-China Defense Security Consultation Talk (established in 2006); the Xiangshan Forum; and the ASEAN Defense Ministerial Meeting Plus (ADMM Plus). Nonetheless, security cooperation remains extremely limited, despite the signing of the 2008 Joint Development of Defense Industry, Exchange and Training of Military Officers, and Joint Military Exercise in 2008 and the signing of a Comprehensive Strategic Partnership in 2013. The main reasons are the Indonesian military's ongoing distrust of China, and public anxiety about China's aggressive behavior in the South China Sea. Frequent incidents in Indonesia's Natuna Sea (neighboring the South China Sea) have stoked fears about the threat China may pose to Indonesian territory. The risk of Uyghur terrorist operations in Indonesia is an additional security concern. Ethnic Chinese Indonesians are the main actors in economic relations to China However, both China and Russia are seen as alternative security partners to counterbalance difficult relations with the United States and its Western allies.⁴ Western countries are generally perceived as hypocritical for their double standards on human rights. Frequent US-led interventions and subversion in developing countries are unpopular. Previous bitter experiences and distant relations with Western countries have driven Indonesia to seek other security partners.

GEOPOLITICS: GROWING US-CHINA RIVALRY PROMPTS NEW PROTECTION MECHANISMS

Indonesia has experienced bitter relations with both the US and China. Indonesia strives to operate an "independent and active" policy (bebas aktif) in response to US-China strategic competition, as is often the case amid big-power rivalry. For Indonesia, their rivalry presents opportunities as well as challenges.

Beijing has actively promoted investment and infrastructure projects through the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), whereas Indonesia has seen no clear economic dimensions to Washington's Indo-Pacific strategy. However, US allies such as Japan, the EU, and Australia have sought to enhance economic relations with Indonesia; these countries are perceived as alternatives to China, so Jakarta applies a hedging strategy. The United States seemingly prefers to support other regional countries such as Singapore and Vietnam when it comes to business opportunities and investment.

In 2021, China launched the Global Development Initiative (GDI) to promote cooperation in poverty reduction and the implementation of UN sustainable development goals (SDGs). The new global initiative expresses both Beijing's growing global ambitions and its willingness to shoulder more 'big power' responsibilities by providing global public goods. The GDI's eight focus areas are aligned with ASEAN's Community Vision 2025 and Indonesian Development Programs. It can also be synergized with the Indonesian-sponsored ASEAN Outlook on the Indo-Pacific (AOIP).

Indonesia's government does not wish to take sides in geopolitical competition. Historical experience has shown the United States and China are equally capable of threatening Indonesia's territorial integrity and security. Jakarta proposed the AOIP in a bid to pacify the Quad's Indo-Pacific strategy to contain China: it seeks to turn points of tension into areas for cooperation and to include China, not exclude it. Indonesia has also expressed concerns about AUKUS, as it fears the anti-China alliance will provoke nuclear proliferation in the Pacific and threaten overall regional security, jeopardizing Indonesia too. However, though Jakarta avoids openly welcoming the US presence in the South China Sea, it needs US and allied support against Chinese a aggression. Indonesian diplomacy aims to build a stable region through dialogue and mutual trust; major extra-regional powers are welcome to cooperate, not to dominate, let alone to dictate.

PERCEPTIONS: A MIX OF RESPECT, SUSPICION AND CAUTION

Indonesian perceptions of China and the Chinese are a major issue that significantly affects bilateral relations.⁵ Public discourse freely mixes up China as a country, PRC citizens and the ethnic Chinese descendants of earlier Chinese migrants to Indonesia; worsening identity politics has targeted both Indonesia's Chinese minority and the PRC. Indonesian diplomacy aims for regional stability through dialogue and mutual trust Indonesians admire China's astonishing development and cultural richness, but they also fear China's domination of the Indonesian economy and are concerned about Chinese assertiveness in the South China Sea. There is skepticism about the impact of China's rise.⁶ Perceptions of Chinese economic dominance prevail at both public and elite levels. However, elite perceptions are divergent, ranging from the military and anti-communist groups who perceive China as threat, to moderate technocrats and bureaucrats who see both challenges and opportunities in China's rise. Ethnic Chinese in the business community tend to be fond of China; many have sent the rising generation to work or study there in recent decades.⁷ Among elites and supporters of President Widodo, there is no clear steer as perceptions are divided between those who view China optimistically and those who are suspicious of Beijing.⁸

Some studies reveal Indonesian perceptions of China in particular issues. A study of the BRI found Indonesian diplomats had largely negative perceptions of Chinese intentions, but nonetheless welcomed the initiative and were optimistic it would benefit Indonesia somehow.⁹ Bilateral economic cooperation through the BRI has been limited by the influx of Chinese workers to projects in Indonesia, fear of China's economic domination, its aggressive stance in the North Natuna Sea and the ethnic Chinese issue.¹⁰ Indonesians exhibited most positive sentiment towards China over the Covid-19 pandemic as it proved the most generous country in providing medical supplies, medicines, and vaccines.¹¹

Positive perceptions may fade if China's economic dominance and political influence grow, if it employs strong-arm tactics in the South China Sea, continues mistreating the Muslim Uyghur population in Xinjiang, or intervenes in domestic politics.¹² Other possible triggers for negative feeling would be a major influx of mainland Chinese workers, any heightening of identity politics in Indonesia, or changes in China's policy on Chinese overseas.¹³

OUTLOOK: INDONESIA'S EMPHASIS ON THE GLOBAL SOUTH OFFERS CHINA DIPLO-MATIC OPPORTUNITIES

Overall, domestic audiences and international society both consider Indonesia's government under President Widodo to be a close partner of China under President Xi. The personal factor seems to shape the relationship. However, public concern over China's economic dominance, its naval assertiveness and mistreatment of Uyghurs have become sufficiently sensitive issues to hinder the government's attempts to expand economic relations with China.

Indonesia's regional and global stance is not to isolate China, a position that is consistent with its foreign policy principle of "bebas aktif" (independent and active). It is also rational and pragmatic, as the Asian giant has become the engine of global economic growth and offers more opportunities than other major powers. Through the GDI, China has also indicated more willingness and readiness to be a responsible major power that provides global public goods. Accepting China's rise and working cooperatively to cope with the threats China poses seems more rational; condemnation and exclusion will fuel great power rivalries that, eventually, endanger Indonesian interests.

Indonesia's regional and global stance is not to isolate China

Nevertheless, it is imperative for Indonesia to continue putting (friendly) pressure on China as Indonesians do not wish to see a rising power emulate the unacceptable hegemonic behavior shown by the United States in the last several decades. US support for Israel and interventions in many countries, especially Muslim countries, for economic and strategic purposes have soured Indonesian public opinion towards it. Indonesian public wariness towards China is shaped by this rejection of hegemonic behavior. However, China's criticism of frequently unfair and unilateral US conduct could help frame codes of conduct for an acceptable major power. On environment and climate change issues, China has shown itself willing to comply with international norms and to take the lead on some climate actions.

Indonesia needs to navigate carefully in its foreign policy to avoid being seen to lean towards any major power. The country also needs to enhance its national development in order to mitigate its dependence and become a more equitable partner. Working with Southeast Asian partners to enhance ASEAN's centrality, and with other countries to strengthen global governance, is generally accepted among Indonesians as the route to a more participatory approach in creating a fairer new global order.

Indonesia's reaction to Russia's invasion of Ukraine: A result of US and NATO geopolitical strategy

Indonesia has been prudent in its reaction to the Ukraine crisis. While against Russia's invasion and the use of force against civilians, Indonesia's elites and the public seem to believe that Ukraine has been the victim of US and NATO geopolitical strategy toward Russia. The general perception is that the United States and NATO knew Russian insecurities would spark aggressive moves.

The Western alliance is seen as preferring to arm poor countries along Russia's border rather than take on President Vladimir Putin themselves. The crisis has demolished Ukraine, as well as damaged Russia's resources and reputation, but it undoubtedly benefits the Western military-industrial complex. Now, the United States is trying to dictate to international institutions to exclude Russia and exerting enormous pressure on Indonesia as the current president of the G20.

Indonesia's government and wider opinion reject condemnation and exclusion as a way to handle the crisis, and favor dialogue to treat both sides more fairly. Furthermore, there is a strong sense that Western countries' hypocrisy has been remarkable recently as they did not react equally strongly to Israel shooting Muslim worshippers in Al Aqsa Mosque, Jerusalem, on April 15, 2022, or to Israel's many acts of aggression towards Palestinian people over the decades.

ENDNOTES

- 1 | WITS. Trade Flow Indonesia-China 2019. <u>https://wits.worldbank.org/CountryProfile/en/Country/IDN/</u> <u>Year/2019/TradeFlow/EXPIMP/Partner/CHN/Product/all-groups</u>. Accessed: April 16, 2022.
- 2 | Ibid.
- 3 | Indonesia Bureau of Statistics (2021). "Realisasi Investasi penanaman Modal; Luar negeri menurut Negara" (Realization of foreign investment by country). 2021. <u>https://www.bps.go.id/indicator/13/1843/3/realisasi-investasi-penanaman-modal-luar-negeri-menurut-negara.html</u>. Accessed: June 25, 2021.
- 4 | Fitriani, Evi (2021). "Linking the impacts of perception, domestic politics, economic engagements, and the international environment on bilateral relations between Indonesia and China in the onset of the 21st century." *Journal of Contemporary East Asia Studies* 10 (2): 183-202. Taylor & Francis
- 5 | Ibid.
- 6 | Herlijanto, Johannes (2019). "Public Perceptions of China in Indonesia: The Indonesia National Survey." *Perspective* (89). Singapore: ISEAS.
- 7 | Fitriani, Evi (2018). "Indonesian Perceptions of the Rise of China: Dare You, Dare You Not." *The Pacific Review* 31(3): 391–405. doi:10.1080/09512748.2018.1428677.
- 8 | Herlijanto, Johannes (2017). "How the Indonesian Elite Regards Relations with China." *Perspective* (8). Singapore: ISEAS.
- 9 | Yeremia, Adhitya (2020). "Guarded Optimism, Caution and Sophistication: Indonesian Diplomats' Perceptions of the Belt and Road Initiative." *International Journal of China Study* 11 (1): 21-49.
 10 | Fitting: (2021) Les site
- 10 | Fitriani (2021). Loc.cit.
- 11 | Seah, Sharon et al. (2021). The State of Southeast Asia. Singapore: ISEAS-Yusof Ishak Institute
- 12 | Seah, Sharon et al. (2022). *The State of Southeast Asia*. Singapore: ISEAS-Yusof Ishak Institute, 36.
- 13 | Suryadarma, Leo (2017). "The Growing 'strategic partnership' between Indonesia and China faces difficult challenges" Trends in Southeast Asia 5. Singapore: ISEAS.

KAZAKHSTAN

Kazakhstan's three-way balancing act between competing powers is under pressure

Oyuna Baldakova

KAZAKHSTAN

Country factsheet

MAIN CHINA-BACKED INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS AND HOLDINGS



 Integrated Petrochemical Complex, Atyrau Region
 Kazakhstan-China Oil Pipeline, pipeline from Atyrau in Kazakhstan to Alashankou in Xinjiang (China)

3 Khorgos Special Economic Zone (SEZ) and dry port, *Khorgos*



Sources: MERICS, China's Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Comtrade, SIPRI, AEI China Global Investment Tracker

KAZAKHSTAN

Kazakhstan's three-way balancing act between competing powers is under pressure

Oyuna Baldakova

As one of Kazakhstan's biggest trading partners and investors, China has prioritized the economic relationship over the military one. However, China is becoming more interested in acting as a security provider in Central Asia, given the instability in Afghanistan and growing securitization of Xinjiang. China's increasing presence in Kazakhstan has provoked concern among expert groups and the wider public, though Kazakhstan's authoritarian regime makes it hard for public opinion to shape policy. Nonetheless, widespread public outcry has sometimes shifted policy towards China. Kazakhstan's 'multi-vector' foreign policy and trade diversification strategy could be undermined by greater economic dependence on China, as Russian's attack on Ukraine will strengthen China's role as an economic partner. Kazakhstan needs to diversify its oil and gas-dependent economy, channel more investment into value-added technologies and plan for a low-carbon future. Russia's unpredictability might also open the way to an alternative security system in Central Asia. Rising tensions between Russia, China and the West could mean Kazakhstan's three-way independent policy gets squeezed by pressures to take sides.

STATUS QUO: OIL AND GAS-DEPENDENT KAZAKHSTAN NEEDS RUSSIA, CHINA AND THE WEST

Kazakhstan's relationship with China is driven by trade and investment. In 2021, China was the largest buyer of Kazakhstan's exports (taking 16.4 percent) and second only to Russia as a source of imports, providing 20.2 percent of the total. Kazakhstan predominant-ly exports commodities – oil and gas, coal, uranium, zinc and iron ores, agricultural and chemical products – and imports industrial goods such as food, light manufacturing goods, medicine, electronics and machinery from China. Total trade between the two amounted to USD 18.19 billion (17.9 percent of the total) and rose 15.2 percent in 2021 compared to the previous year reflecting the ease of Covid-19 trade restrictions.¹

China is Kazakhstan's fourth largest source of foreign direct investment (FDI), after the Netherlands, the United States, and Switzerland. Total gross inflow of FDI from China, excluding Hong Kong, was USD 18.9 billion between 2005 and 2019, roughly 6 percent of total investment in the time.² The bulk of Chinese FDI goes into joint ventures in extraction, especially oil and gas and other minerals. Other destinations include manufacturing, communications, and service industries.

Kazakhstan's debt to China was 5.9 percent of its total external debt in April 2021, or USD 9.7 billion, which included government-guaranteed debt of USD 1.39 billion, according to official data.³ Kazakhstan ranks as China's fifth-largest recipient of grants and loans, having received USD 39.01 billion from official Chinese institutions from 2000 to 2017. It is among the 10 countries whose hidden debt to China (or loans issued to state-owned

Kazakhstan's relationship with China is driven by trade and investment enterprises with implicit host government repayment guarantees) amounts to more than 10 percent of GDP.⁴

In the security sphere, Kazakhstan is one of the original members of the Shanghai Five grouping (which became the Shanghai Cooperation Organization, or SCO), set up in 1996 in the aftermath of the disintegration of the Soviet Union to settle territorial disputes between Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Russia, Tajikistan, and China. The SCO countries have held joint military training, fostered academic exchanges and cooperated against the three evils of "terrorism, separatism and extremism." China is particularly concerned about those three threats in relation to Afghanistan and its own Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region. China's only military base in Central Asia is in Tajikistan, which borders both Afghanistan and China.

Kazakhstan's government has a vested interest in Afghanistan's stability, given its proximity and the potential for radical groups to influence Kazakhstan's own, predominantly Muslim population. The Kazakh public takes a close interest in China's persecution of the Muslim Uyghurs and Kazakhs in Xinjiang. Hence, the Kazakh government must juggle between keeping close relations with China and responding to popular demand for action to protect Xinjiang's Kazakh minority. The government has cracked down on activists and protesters seeking information about missing relatives in Xinjiang, but also sent diplomatic notes of protest to Beijing.⁵

China's military did not get involved in pacifying protests in Kazakhstan in early 2022, despite Beijing's concern for stability in Central Asia. Military involvement was coordinated under the Russian-led Collective Security Treaty Organization (CSTO), not the China-led SCO. Beijing embraced the official Kazakh narrative that the protests were a color revolution instigated by external forces and promised its support to overcome the difficulties.⁶

GEOPOLITICS: KAZAKHSTAN CHERISHES ITS "MULTI-VECTOR" FOREIGN POLICY DOCTRINE

Kazakhstan has followed a multi-vector foreign policy since its independence from the Soviet Union in 1991, triangulating between Russia, China and the United States. After the January 2022 protests, President Kassym-Jomart Tokayev said Kazakhstan would remain open to multifaceted cooperation with the international community.⁷

On the economic front, Kazakhstan is finding it harder to maintain its foreign policy balancing act between Chinese or Russian influences to fend off US pressures. Chevron and other US companies remain leading oil producers in Kazakhstan, accounting for 30 percent of total oil extracted in 2019. This compares with 17 percent pumped by China's CNPC, Sinopec, and CITIC, and 3 percent for Russia's Lukoil.⁸ The US has attempted to engage with Kazakh financial sector initiatives via a USD 1 billion project from its International Development Finance Corporation to implement joint investment projects through the Astana International Financial Center platform,⁹ and through Washington's response to China's BRI – the Blue Dot Network.¹⁰ Although these are meaningful initiatives, US-Kazakhstan trade turnover of USD 2.3 billion in 2020 is tiny compared to USD 18.19 billion of trade with China. Nor can the relationships be seen as comparable, given the scale of Chinese investment, financing, and infrastructure support. Kazakhstan's foreign policy triangulates between Russia, China and the US Kazakhstan's triangulation strategy can clearly be seen in military co-operation. Russia is its primary military partner¹¹ but Kazakhstan has hosted the annual 'Steppe Eagle' military exercise with NATO since 2006. It was last held in 2019, before the COVID-19 pandemic.¹² From 1991-2020, the US and China each supplied a minor and roughly equal share of Kazakhstan's total arms imports; 1.3 percent from the US, against 1.1. percent from China.¹³ The informal and low-grade nature of the US-Kazakhstan security relationship allows Kazakhstan to maintain its multi-vector foreign policy and not upset Russia.¹⁴ China's role has been mainly economic, though Afghanistan's instability has increased China's interest in adopting a regional security role.

For the United States, as for China, the two most prominent security issues in the bilateral relationship are Afghanistan and Xinjiang. Both the United States and China are concerned that radical Islamic terrorism in Afghanistan could become a source of regional instability. After the US withdrew its troops in 2021, Afghanistan's political settlement and stabilization became an interest for China and Russia, just as much as for Central Asian states, and Washington. Xinjiang, on the other hand, is a source of US-China tension and political confrontation. During his official visit to Kazakhstan in February 2020, then US Secretary of State Pompeo urged Kazakhstan to join in pressing China to end its repression of Muslim minorities in Xinjiang.¹⁵ However, he failed to persuade Kazakh officials to take a harder line that would have disrupted Kazakhstan's balancing act.

PERCEPTIONS: CHINA IS MORE POPULAR WITH ELITES THAN WITH THE PUBLIC

The axiom "warm politics, cold public" could have been coined to describe the Sino-Kazakh relationship. The political establishment and the business elites exhibit a cautious pro-China approach, while the wider public is divided. Public opinion readily equates China with Chinese migrants who are often perceived in a negative light.¹⁶ Despite the growing number of anti-China protests,¹⁷ the Kazakh and Chinese governments enjoy stable high-level relations, underpinned by a 2019 bilateral agreement on a permanent comprehensive strategic partnership. Kazakhstan's authoritarian nature makes it hard for public concerns to directly impact policy making, though widespread public outcry has sometimes produced policy shifts, as happened with the suspension of land reforms in 2016.

Both expert groups and the public have expressed concern about China's increasing presence in Kazakhstan. The expert survey "Central Asia Forecasting 2021" found that China's regional role was expected to grow, leading Beijing to challenge Moscow's position as the preferred partner of all five states. This was not necessarily a welcome trend; fears included the likely adoption of China-style surveillance technologies and other authoritarian practices.¹⁸ Popular views recorded by the Central Asian Barometer also revealed concern; only 7 percent of Kazakh respondents "strongly supported" Chinese energy and infrastructure projects and more than 70 percent were very concerned at the prospect of Chinese land purchases.¹⁹

Anti-China protests spread across several cities in 2019 on the eve of President Tokayev's first official visit to China. Demonstrators protested against the rumored relocation of 55 Chinese factories²⁰ to Kazakhstan. They cited fears about pollution, and rising debt, while also objecting to the mistreatment of Uyghurs and Kazakhs in Xinjiang.²¹ A preliminary list of the factory projects had been drafted in 2016, but was only publicly disclosed in 2019 after the protests.²²

Elites exhibit a cautious pro-China approach, while the wider public is divided Transboundary water management and land ownership issues also worry the Kazakh population. Two key rivers, the Ili and Irtysh, remain contested, with negotiations on water management and use underway since 1999. Additionally, the growing Chinese presence has seen widespread fears of land takeovers gaining momentum over the past decade. In April-May 2016, people in several cities successfully protested draft amendments to the Land Law that would have permitted foreigners to rent agricultural land for 25 years instead of 10 years. Concerns focused on Chinese citizens, many of whom already work on rented agricultural lands in Central Asia.²³ The land reforms were eventually suspended.

The Kazakh public has few ways to influence official policy: Kazakhstan is classed as a consolidated authoritarian regime by Freedom House.²⁴ However, the land protests of 2016 and anti-China protests of 2019 succeeded: land reform was suspended and the "55 projects" list became publicly available. Public opinion cannot be completely disregarded in Kazakhstan's relations with China.

OUTLOOK: ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION IS MORE URGENT THAN EVER

President Tokayev promised Kazakhstan's major policy paradigms would remain unchanged when he won the June 2019 presidential election, ending the 30-year presidency of Nursultan Nazarbayev. He has continued to follow the 'multi-vector' foreign policy that balances pressures from Russia, China and the United States, along with "controlled democratization" and social reforms.²⁵ However, President Tokayev may have over-indebted himself to Russia in January 2022 – and unbalanced Nazarbayev's carefully-calibrated independent foreign policy – when he asked the Russian-led CSTO to help suppress violent riots in Almaty, the biggest city and commercial metropolis.²⁶

For now, however, Russia's war in Ukraine has swung Kazakhstan away from Russia and towards China. International sanctions against Russia have worsened Kazakhstan's economic woes, coming so soon after the January 2022 protests hurt the investment climate. As Kazakhstan seeks to diversify away from Russia, it is likely that China will play a bigger role, given its proximity, sizeable market and alternative financial institutions. Other factors pushing Kazakhstan towards China are the fear of sanctions affecting Kazakh oil in Russian pipelines and risk of secondary sanctions. Yet, China's Covid-19 management strategy of continuous lockdowns has slowed trade and business travel this year. More broadly, the government will need to weigh whether greater economic dependence on China's jeopar-dizes its balanced foreign policy.

The top economic policy in need of revision under current circumstances is the trade diversification strategy and structural transformation of the energy sector. Kazakhstan gets almost 45 percent of its government budget from oil and gas revenues²⁷ – it was the world's ninth-largest exporter of crude oil and 12th for natural gas in 2018, according to International Energy Agency (IEA) data.²⁸ Shifting patterns of global energy consumption mean Kazakhstan needs to channel more investment into oil and gas processing and value-added technologies to diversify its products; yet it must simultaneously plan for a low-carbon future and develop alternative energy sources.

In security policy, Russia's unpredictability, and the rise of anti-colonial sentiments in Central Asia, could lead to a push for an alternative Central Asian security system. The Kazakh government's heightened sensitivity to public opinion after the January protests could also play into this. Here, Kazakhstan's multilateralism could form the basis of a new regional Russia's war in Ukraine has swung Kazakhstan away from Russia and towards China system, with countries drifting away from Russia to engage more with China, Turkey, the West, and the Arab world. However, rising tensions between China and the West may also hinder Kazakhstan's ability to continue to maneuver between opposing interests.

Kazakhstan's reaction to Russia's invasion of Ukraine: Russia's war in Ukraine puts pressure on Kazakhstan's three-way foreign policy

US-China geopolitical competition is less significant for Kazakhstan than Russia's invasion of Ukraine and rising fears among the Kazakh population about the potential for Russian aggression against them. Such fears focus on northern Kazakhstan, which has a large Russian minority.²⁹ Like China, Kazakhstan has avoided directly criticizing Putin's war against Ukraine. However, the government did not recognize the Russian-occupied parts of Donbas as independent, citing international law, and ruled out sending its CSTO troops to Ukraine.³⁰

Being a member of the Russian-led Eurasian Economic Union (EAEU), Kazakhstan has felt ripple effects from sanctions; these include higher inflation rates, currency devaluation and slackening Russian trade and investment.³¹ Negative impacts on the oil-dependent economy and its Russia-bound energy trade routes highlight the need for diversification in the energy sector and wider economy. Kazakhstan may lean even more towards China for investment and equipment supplies to counter the risk of reliance on sanctioned Russian entities. Russia's war is also likely to accelerate efforts to diversify Kazakhstan's imports and exports via Caspian Sea routes and away from Russia to mitigate the effects of sanctions.

ENDNOTES

- 1 | State Revenue Committee (2021). *Statistics of foreign trade of the Republic of Kazakhstan*. <u>https://kgd.gov.kz/en/exp_trade_files</u>. Accessed: February 24, 2022.
- 2 | National Bank of Kazakhstan (2021a). Direct Investments according to the directional principle. <u>https://nationalbank.kz/en/news/pryamye-investicii-po-napravleniyu-vlozheniya</u>. Accessed: November 12, 2021.
- 3 | National Bank of Kazakhstan (2021b). External Debt. <u>https://nationalbank.kz/en/news/vneshniy-dolg</u>. Accessed: November 12, 2021.
- 4 | Malik AA, Parks B, Russell B, et al. (2021). *Banking on the Belt and Road. Insights from a new global dataset of 13427 Chinese development projects.* <u>https://docs.aiddata.org/ad4/pdfs/Banking on the Belt and Road Insights from a new global dataset of 13427 Chinese development projects.pdf.</u> Accessed: December 11, 2021.
- 5 | Pron E and Szwajnoch E (2019). Kazakh Anti-Chinese Protests and the Issue of Xinjiang Detention Camps. <u>https://www.cacianalyst.org/publications/analytical-articles/item/13593-kazakh-anti-chinese-protests-and-the-issue-of-xinjiang-detention-camps.html</u>. Accessed: April 25, 2022.
- 6 | Xinhua News Agency (2022). *Xi sends verbal message to Kazakh president*. <u>http://www.xinhuanet.com/</u> <u>english/20220107/1d680adbf493472488e555e2ed523bfc/c.html</u>. Accessed: March 31, 2022.
- 7 | Akhmetkali A (2022) "Open Door Investment Policy Remains Consistent, Says Kazakh President," The Astana Times, 27 January.
- 8 | Umarov T. Carnegie Moscow (2021). "Can Russia and China Edge the United States Out of Kazakhstan?" 8 March. <u>https://carnegiemoscow.org/commentary/85078</u>. Accessed: April 2, 2022.
- 9 | Prime Minister of Kazakhstan (2021). *Kazakhstan is developing investment cooperation with the United States through AIFC platform*. <u>https://primeminister.kz/en/news/kazahstan-narashchivaet-investi-cionnoe-sotrudnichestvo-s-ssha-cherez-ploshchadku-mfca-805939</u>. Accessed: April 2, 2022.
- 10 | Cekuta R (2020). "Blue Dot Network: Avenue for Increasing Investment." The Astana Times, 28 September.
- 11 | Neafie J (2022). "Producing the Eurasian Land Bridge: a case study of the geo-economic contestation in Kazakhstan." *International Politics*: 1–21.
- 12 | Putz C. The Diplomat (2022). "Russian Ambassador to Kazakhstan Says US-NATO Steppe Eagle Exercise Will 'No Longer Fly'." 11 February. <u>https://thediplomat.com/2022/02/russian-ambassador-to-kazakhstan-says-us-nato-steppe-eagle-exercise-will-no-longer-fly/</u>. Accessed: April 4, 2022.
- 13 | Zholdas A (2021). Import of Arms in Central Asia: trends and directions for diversification. https://cabar.asia/en/import-of-arms-in-central-asia-trends-and-directions-for-diversification. Accessed: April 4, 2022.
- 14 | Neafie J (2022). "Producing the Eurasian Land Bridge: a case study of the geo-economic contestation in Kazakhstan." *International Politics*: 1–21.
- 15 | RFE/RL (2020). "Pompeo Urges Kazakhstan to Press China Over Xinjiang Crackdown." *Voice of America*, 2 February.
- 16 | Chen Y-W (2015). "A Research Note on Central Asian Perspectives on the Rise of China: The Example of Kazakhstan." *Issues & Studies* 51(3): 63–87.
- 17 | Toktomushev K (2021). "China and Central Asia: Warm Politics, Cold Public." CAP PAPERS 261.
- 18 | Baldakova O, Schiek S, Rinke T, et al. (2021). Central Asia Forecasting 2021: Results from an Expert Survey. <u>https://centralasia-forecasting.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/ca_forecasting_report_web_en.pdf</u>. Accessed: July 4, 2022.
- 19 | Trilling D (2020). "Poll shows Uzbeks, like neighbors, growing leery of Chinese investments." *Eurasianet*, 22 October.
- 20 | The idea of such Kazakh-Chinese industrial cooperation was first announced in 2014 under the framework of linking Kazakhstan's own infrastructure development strategy, Nurly Zhol, to the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI).
- 21 | Baldakova O. MERICS (2019). "Protests along the BRI: China's prestige project meets growing resistance." December 10. <u>https://merics.org/en/analysis/protests-along-bri-chinas-prestige-project-meetsgrowing-resistance</u>. Accessed: April 11, 2022.
- 22 | Yergaliyeva A (2019). "Kazakh President, officials deny rumours China will transfer 55 old factories to Kazakhstan." *The Astana Times*, 7 September.
- 23 | Pannier B (2016). "Central Asian Land and China." Radio Free Europe, 2 May.
- 24 | Freedom House (2022). *Kazakhstan: Country Profile*. <u>https://freedomhouse.org/country/kazakhstan</u>. Accessed: April 12, 2022.
- 25 | Gotev G. EURACTIV (2019). "Kazakhstan's new president vows to pursue controlled democratisation." September 3. <u>https://www.euractiv.com/section/central-asia/news/kazakhstans-new-president-vows-to-pursue-controlled-democratisation/</u>. Accessed: April 13, 2022.
- 26 | Stronski P. Carnegie Moscow (2022). "Lessons Learned from the Kazakhstan Crisis." 16 February. https://carnegiemoscow.org/commentary/86450. Accessed: April 13, 2022.
- 27 | Forbes (2020). "44% of the state budget of Kazakhstan is formed by the oil and gas sector." February
 4. https://forbes.kz/process/energetics/44 gosudarstvennogo byudjeta kazahstana formiruet neftegazovyiy sektor/? Accessed: November 23, 2021.
- 28 | IEA (2020). Kazakhstan energy profile. <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/kazakhstan-energy-profile</u>. Accessed: April 16, 2022.
- 29 | Lillis J (2022). "Ukraine war inspires rival passions in Central Asia." Eurasianet, 7 March.
- 30 | Petrenko R (2022). "Kazakhstan does not recognise the "republics" in ORDLO and rules out sending CSTO troops there." Ukrayinska Pravda, 22 February.
- 31 | Kumenov A (2022). "Kazakhstan braces for impact of Russia sanctions regime." Eurasianet, 3 March.

KENYA

China- Kenya relations: Economic benefits set against regional risks

Oscar M. Otele



Country factsheet

MAIN CHINA-BACKED INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS AND HOLDINGS



Sources: MERICS, China's Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Comtrade, SIPRI, AEI China Global Investment Tracker

KENYA

China-Kenya relations: Economic benefits set against regional risks

Oscar M. Otele

China and Kenya have a relationship of enhanced economic cooperation, though the trade balance heavily favors China and concerns over debt sustainability have grown with Chinese lending. Closer economic ties have paved the way for more security cooperation. However, the resulting geopolitical rivalry risks exacerbating political fragmentation in East Africa and the Horn of Africa as countries align themselves with either the West or China. Amid these pressures, it remains to be seen how effectively Kenya can triangulate between China and the West. How will Nairobi manage to forge mutually beneficial relations with the West and yet sustain constructive engagement with China?

STATUS-QUO: ECONOMIC TIES OPEN THE DOOR TO MORE SECURITY COOPERATION

Since 2015, bilateral trade between China and Kenya has been on the rise (see Exhibit 1). From 2015 to 2019, the total trade value between the two countries was USD 18.20 billion.¹ Of this, Kenya's imports from China made up 97 percent, while Kenya's exports to China were a mere 3 percent, thus the trade balance skews heavily in China's favor. Imports rose due to Kenya's engagement with China's Belt Road and Initiative (BRI), especially from the start of the Standard Gauge Railway (SGR) project in December 2014.² The incorporation of the Lamu Port-South Sudan-Ethiopia Transport (LAPSSET) Corridor project into the BRI

Kenya's trade imbalance with China Large gap between import and export volume, in USD billion - Imports - Exports 4,000 3,500 3,000 2,500 2,000 1,500 1.000 500 2016 2017 2019 2015 2018 MERICS Source: World Integrated Trade Solutions

Exhibit 1

also had a significant impact. The slight increase in Kenyan exports during the same period suggests Kenyan exporters may have discovered some sustainable opportunities in China's market. The growing trade deficit is underpinned by the fact that China's leading exports to Kenya are electrical equipment and machinery, predominantly used in the construction sector, while Kenya's leading exports to China consist of mineral ore slag, soda ash and some agricultural products. The imbalance has prompted concern among policy makers about the need to review China-Kenya trade policy.

Meanwhile, since 2005, the Kenyan Investment Authority (KenInvest) has registered and facilitated 313 Chinese investment projects with a total value of USD 1.55 billion (see Exhibit 2).³ This far outstrips US investments in Kenya, which stood at USD 353 million in 2019.4 Kenya's experience is consistent with the general pattern of declining US investment flows into Africa since 2010.⁵ Chinese investments in Kenya increased significantly when the SGR kicked off in 2014, as the rail project generated new investment opportunities in the construction and manufacturing sub-sectors. Chinese firms have also helped Kenya reduce dependence on imported commodities, especially in high tech fields like cloud computing.6

Sectoral distribution of Chinese investments

SECTOR	NO. OF PROJECTS	CAPITAL COST (IN KSH MILLION)	NUMBER OF KENYANS EMPLOYED
Tourism	27	30.41	1,752
Trade	70	12,636.92	1,862
Services	33	3,624.48	4,871
Manufacturing	118	46,606.44	11,557
Agriculture	5	613.8	281
Construction	36	86,116.8	5,718
Finance	1	1.00	8
Real Estate	1	0.1	6
Education	1	0.144	50
Health	4	0.4502	58
Telecommunications	3	12.072	1,329
ICT	7	11.71	104
Transport	3	2.58	67
Energy	4	0.9841	31

Exhibit 2

Rising trade and investment was reflected in the growth of Chinese loans during the same period. By the end of 2021, China was the leading bilateral creditor to Kenya, representing about 67 percent of its external debt, followed by Japan with 14 percent and France at 7 percent.⁷ As a significant proportion of Chinese loans are commercial, politicians have raised concerns about the potential impacts of fluctuating interest rates and long repayment periods.⁸

Amid deepening economic ties, China's conceptualization of its national security interests has widened. In the 2000s, China sought to secure its maritime safety from pirates along the major sea lanes connecting East Africa to Chinese ports.⁹ China's presence in the construction of mega infrastructure projects in Kenya has also generated security concerns arising from local frustrations over lack of job opportunities for Kenyans. Friction could have been avoided at the negotiation stage if Kenyans had insisted on legally binding agreements on local content.

The construction of the SGR saw several security problems, including attacks from locals and terrorist threats.¹⁰ To protect its assets during construction, China set up security services and trained an elite Kenyan police division.¹¹ In addition, China Bridge and Road Corporation (CBRC) procured the services of private security company DeWe, which developed a "comprehensive security plan" for the SGR infrastructure project involving security personnel, security technology and coordination. CBRC also entered into a partnership with the Kenyan Police Service for the services of 1,500 armed police officers. The presence of Chinese private security companies has increased Kenyan citizens' perception of insecurity and reduced trust in the police's ability to maintain law and order. The Afrobarometer¹² survey in the month of November 2021 found Kenyans ranked crime and security as the sixth most important problem, with citizens reporting 34 percent trust in police,¹³ down from 38 percent in 2021.

During the January 2022 visit of China's Foreign Minister Wang Yi, peace and security topics were discussed, in recognition of Kenya's position on the United Nation Security Council (UNSC)¹⁴ – a seat that China may leverage to influence Kenya's position on UNSC matters in future. China's growing interest in Kenya's security sector has stirred a Western reaction; the United States has claimed China is planning to set up a military base in Kenya similar to the one in Djibouti.¹⁵ US anxieties are understandable as it has traditionally played a greater role in Kenya's national security than China, especially in supplying military equipment and the fight against terrorism. China's growing interest in Kenya's security sector has stirred a US reaction

GEOPOLITICS: KENYA PLAYS OFF CHINA AND THE WEST FOR DEVELOPMENT GOALS

China's growing economic power and heightened engagement in Africa enhances the geostrategic importance of anchor states like Kenya. In the early 2000s, Kenya's foreign assistance came mainly from the West and stood at approximately USD 750 million.¹⁶ China's presence meant Kenya could diversify its external sources of development assistance, so that by late 2018, Chinese loans in Kenya stood at USD 4.75 billion.¹⁷ Kenyan policy-makers tend to perceive Chinese development assistance as free from onerous conditions and therefore favor it as a counterweight to Western aid, which is often pegged to good governance.

Kenya has gained diplomatic space to manoeuvre in its engagement with the West by wrapping infrastructure mega-projects into the BRI, and thereby being loosely associated with China's global geopolitical ambitions. Beijing's readiness to enhance Kenya's position as East Africa's main gateway is perceived in Kenya as a Chinese strategy to counter Western influence. However, Kenya maintains a supple position on whether it favors the West or the East, which depends on the context.¹⁸ When US President Barack Obama visited in 2015, President Kenyatta stressed Kenya's openness to constructive engagement with all countries.¹⁹ During his second state visit to China in September 2018, President Kenyatta affirmed his country's commitment to an "interconnected world [through the BRI]."²⁰ Although Foreign Minister Wang's visit to Kenya was part of China's annual diplomatic visits to Africa, it came barely six weeks after a visit from US Secretary of State Antony Blinken. Whereas Blinken was hosted in Nairobi, Wang flew directly to the coastal city of Mombasa where he inspected an oil terminal funded by China's Exim Bank at a cost of USD 400 million.

Although Kenya wants to engage with both sides, it is increasingly likely to find itself aligning with China, given the attractions of economic cooperation with no strings attached. However, this strategy appears strained. At the start of Russia's invasion of Ukraine, Kenya voted for the resolution calling on Russia to withdraw its troops from Ukraine. However, as the situation unfolds Kenya may reevaluate its position, opting to maintain a strategic equal distance between the axis represented by NATO and democracies and the Russia-China authoritarian axis.

PERCEPTIONS: MIXED VIEWS ON CHINA'S GROWING PRESENCE

The Afrobarometer survey asked respondents whether they thought China, the United States or Japan had positive or negative economic and political influences on Kenya. Among Kenyan respondents, 54 percent felt China was a positive economic and political influence; favorable views of the United States were only slightly higher at 57 percent, while Japan received positive responses from 39 percent.²¹

However, views varied within different sections of Kenyan society. For instance, among Kenyan businesspeople, perceptions are informed by whether they gain or lose from China's presence. Small traders in Nairobi complained that Chinese traders are squeezing them out of business: "They usually come to our shops disguised as customers and ask for our prices, only to go back to their country and bring to the market the same products at a much lower price."²² On the other hand, Kenyan political elites were generally positive about China's engagement. One leader observed that, "Beijing acted nicely and generously to really promote its long-term strategic and political objectives in Africa." As in other African countries, the lack of socio-political conditions on loans and China's general indifference toward Kenya's domestic politics were welcomed by Kenyan elites who compared China's stance favorably with the conditions put on Western support. However, Kenya's foreign policy toward China may be impacted by the erosion of optimism about increased cooperation, particularly in relation to the trade deficit, which could have implications for the BRI's future there.

OUTLOOK: UNSUSTAINABLE TRENDS IN NEED OF REVISION

Concerns over the trade deficit provided the impetus for a review of trade relations. In 2018, the two countries began talks on a sanitary and phytosanitary protocol to expand market access for Kenyan products in China. Kenya is pushing for a review of tariffs levied on cut-flowers and vegetable exports. During Wang's visit, Kenya and China signed a memorandum of understanding (MOU) and set up a working group to look into tariff and non-tariff barriers to Kenya-China trade. The declared aim was "to fast-track and increase

Kenya maintains a supple position on whether it favors the West or the East exports from Kenya and China." They also signed two protocols to facilitate trade, particularly exports of Kenyan avocados and aquatic products.²³ Although Kenya's economy has remained resilient during the pandemic, its growing debt problems may predispose the country to default on Chinese loans in the near future.²⁴ On the security front, geopolitical rivalry is likely to exacerbate regional political fragmentation, as countries align themselves with either the West or China. It remains to be seen how Kenya will manage the inevitable pressures of balancing between its Western and Chinese partners.

Kenya's reaction to Russia's invasion of Ukraine: From outright opposition to quiet strategic balancing act

Unlike some African countries that have remained relatively quiet about Russian action in Ukraine, Kenya openly opposed the invasion from the outset, as it violated Ukraine's sovereignty and territorial integrity. As a non-permanent member of the UN Security Council, Kenya voted for the resolution calling on Russia to stop the invasion and remove its troops from Ukraine.

However, as the situation unfolds Kenya may carefully evaluate its position. Kenya may prefer a quiet strategic balancing act, keeping equal distance between the NATO/democracies and Russia-China authoritarian axis. Kenya's dependency and marginalization in the international system would imply that it balances its options carefully.

If the situation escalates, the West may channel its resources towards NATO's military defense, implying less attention and resources for African states. On the other hand, Russia may turn to China for assistance, though China may not become directly involved in the war due to its policy stance of non- interference. China may leverage its economic power to pull Kenya and others to its side. However, China's economic engagement with Kenya may become limited if its manufacturing capacity is disrupted by the lack of raw materials like oil and gas from Russia.

ENDNOTES

- 1 | World Integrated Trade Solution (WITs), <u>https://wits.worldbank.org/CountryProfile/en/Country/KEN/</u> <u>Year/2019/TradeFlow/EXPIMP/Partner/CHN/Product/all-groups</u> Accessed: 10 January 2022.
- 2 | The SGR project (Phase One, Mombasa- Nairobi 488 kilometers) is Kenya's largest infrastructure project since independence in 1963, worth USD 3.2 billion. The project started in December 2014 and began operation in June 2017. This explains the reduction in imports from 2018.
- 3 | The law does not mandate foreign investors to register with KenInvest (The Investment Promotion Act, 2004), so the data does not reflect all Chinese investments in the country.
- 4 | US, 2021 Investment Climate Statements: Kenya, <u>https://www.state.gov/reports/2021-investment-cli-mate-statements/kenya/</u> Accessed: 10 January 2022.
- 5 | China-Africa Research Initiative Chinese Investments in Africa, <u>http://www.sais-cari.org/chinese-in-vestment-in-africa</u> Accessed: 21 March 2022.
- 6 | Phyllis Wakiaga, Chief Executive Officer, Kenya Association of Manufacturers, Chinese firms boosting Kenya's manufacturing sector via technology <u>https://newsaf.cgtn.com/news/2021-09-14/Chi-nese-firms-boosting-Kenya-s-manufacturing-sector-via-technology--13x2mTtdSUg/index.html</u> Accessed: 19 March 2022.
- 7 | Okoth, Jackson "China is the Top Bilateral Lender to Kenya- Central Bank," 19 September 2021 <u>https://kenyanwallstreet.com/china-has-invested-heavily-in-kenyas-roads-rail/</u> Accessed: 19 March 2022.
- 8 | Miriri, Duncan, China's foreign minister visits Kenya amid unease over rising debt, <u>https://www.reuters.</u> <u>com/world/china/chinas-foreign-minister-visits-kenya-amid-unease-over-rising-debt-2022-01-05/</u> Accessed 21 March 2022.
- 9 | European Parliament, 2019. China's growing role as a security actor in Africa <u>https://www.europarl.eu-ropa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2019/642232/EPRS_BRI(2019)642232_EN.pdf</u>, Accessed: 22 December 2021.
- 10 | Shuwen Zheng and Ying Xia. 2021. Private Security in Kenya and the Impact of Chinese Actors. Working Paper No. 2021/44. China Africa Research Initiative, School of Advanced International Studies, Johns Hopkins University, Washington, DC. Retrieved from <u>http://www.sais-cari.org/publications</u>.
- 11 | Ibid.
- 12 | Afrobarometer is a Pan-African, non-partisan survey research network that provides reliable data on Africans' experiences and evaluations of democracy, governance, and quality of life. With sample sizes of 1,200 or 2,400 adult citizens, the survey yield margins of sampling error of +/-2 to 3 percentage points at a 95% confidence level.
- 13 | In the survey, the respondents were asked what they thought were the most important problems facing Kenya that the government should address: management of the economy, unemployment, corruption, health and education topped the list.
- 14 | Kitimo, Antony, "Chinese foreign minister to visit Kenya in Africa tour," The East African 4 January 2022, <u>https://www.theeastafrican.co.ke/tea/business/chinese-foreign-minister-africa-visit-3672274</u>
- 15 | The East African, China hits out at the US over Kenya military base claim, 8 November 2021, https://www.theeastafrican.co.ke/tea/news/east-africa/china-hits-out-at-the-us-over-kenya-militarybase-claim-3611798, Accessed: 22 December 2021.
- 16 | Prizzon Annalisa and Tom Hart. 2016. Age of Choice: Kenya in the new development finance landscape, Overseas Development Institute, <u>https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/10986.pdf</u> Accessed: 8 January 2022
- 17 | Were, Anzetse, Debt Trap? Chinese Loans and Africa's Development Options, South African Institute of International Affairs, Policy Insight, No. 6 <u>https://media.africaportal.org/documents/sai_spi_66</u> were_20190910.pdf Accessed: 20 March 2022.
- 18 | It is not easy to determine whether Kenya already experienced pressure from the US (or from China) to reassess ties with the other side.
- 19 | Basu Pratyusha and Milena Janiec (2020). Kenya's regional ambitions or China's Belt-and-Road? News media representations of the Mombasa-Nairobi Standard Gauge Railway. *Singapore Journal of Tropical Geography*, doi:10.1111/sjtg.12350
- 20 | Ibid.
- 21 | The reduction could be attributed to debates around increasing Chinese loans in Kenya, compounded by the quick spread of the Covid-19 after Covid-infected airline passengers from China were not quarantined.
- 22 | Mwaura, Samora 2013. "Who is the Bull in a China Shop?" *The Daily Nation*, 31 March 2013.
- 23 | Yusuf, Mohammed "China to Appoint Horn of Africa Special Envoy," VOA, <u>https://www.voanews.com/a/china-to-appoint-horn-of-africa-special-envoy/6385449.html</u>, accessed 10 January 2022.
- 24 | "Kenya GDP Annual Growth Rate," Trading Economics, accessed September 5, 2021, <u>https://trading-economics.com/kenya/gdp-growth-annual;</u> Carmody, Pádraig; Ian Taylor, and Tim Zajontz, "China's spatial fix and 'debt diplomacy' in Africa: constraining belt or road to economic transformation?" *Canadian Journal of African Studies / Revue canadienne des études africaines (2021)*, 8.

NIGERIA

Nigeria sees China as a steady partner and its largest lender

Abdul-Gafar Tobi Oshodi

NIGERIA

Country factsheet

MAIN CHINA-BACKED INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS AND HOLDINGS



Sources: MERICS, China's Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Comtrade, SIPRI, AEI China Global Investment Tracker

NIGERIA

Nigeria sees China as a steady partner and its largest lender

Abdul-Gafar Tobi Oshodi

Nigeria has the largest population and biggest economy in Africa, yet, it is confronted with serious challenges.¹ About 80 million of Nigeria's 200+ million people live in poverty. There is insufficient infrastructure, weak and ineffective institutions, transparency and governance issues, and an oil-dependent rent-seeking economy. Meanwhile, insurgency in the northeast is now being compounded by separatist Indigenous People of Biafra (IPOB) attacks in the southeast.² Within that context, Nigeria-China relations are dominated by economic considerations. China is a major investor and an alternative to other sources of development finance like the International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Bank and other bilateral lenders; it has become Nigeria's largest bilateral lender.

STATUS QUO: ECONOMIC RELATIONS ARE AT THE CORE

China is one of Nigeria's top trading partners. According to the World Bank, Nigeria-China trade in products increased from about USD 1.2 billion in 2003 to USD 13.7 billion in 2019. Nigeria's trade with the United States in the same period declined from USD 11.5 billion to USD 7.5 billion. Within the same period, Chinese investment in Nigeria increased from USD 24.4 million to 123.27 million. Nigeria became one of the top five Chinese investment destinations in Africa – after Kenya, The Democratic Republic of Congo, South Africa, and Ethiopia in 2020.³

Beyond trade and investment, China is financing large projects and its companies are contracted to deliver their construction – including railways, road projects and the rehabilitation of Nigeria's main four airports in Abuja, Lagos, Kano and Port Harcourt. All this makes China fundamental to Nigeria's development finance. In addition to these projects, China has sold millions of USD worth of tanks and artillery to the Nigerian military.⁴

China's rising influence in Nigeria, nonetheless, raises three main concerns worth stressing:

The first revolves around the opacity of China's loans and infrastructure contracts, something that can encourage corruption and other illiberal activities. This opacity led Nigeria's House of Representatives (i.e., the Lower House of the National Assembly) in May 2020 to decide unanimously to probe Chinese loans.⁵ They voted for the probe despite a plea from the Minister of Transportation, Rotimi Amaechi, that the inquiry might frustrate future Chinese loans.⁶ However, by late June 2021, there were media reports that the House probe was not proceeding.⁷

China's response to the House's probe was to emphasize that loans to Nigeria were mutually beneficial.⁸ Some months later, in February 2022, a two-man Chinese delegation, Wu Baocai and Li Ineijian, visited the national secretariat of the main opposition party, PDP, whose members in the House had moved and supported the motion for the probe, at its headquarters.⁹ Less than a month later, Wu led another Chinese delegation to the China is fundamental to Nigeria's development finance Inter-Party Advisory Council (IPAC), an umbrella body for all the registered political parties in Nigeria. These visits appear to have been successful as positive statements about China's activities in the country were made by Iyorchia Ayu, the chairperson of the PDP, and by his IPAC counterpart, Yabagi Sani.¹⁰ By showing willingness to reach out to the main opposition party, the Chinese initiative may have laid a useful foundation if the 2023 general election brings a change of government.

Second, there are concerns that imports of Chinese products, especially textiles, are contributing to the demise of local industries. There have been protests amid reports linking Chinese textiles to the unemployment of thousands of Nigerians in the textile industry.

The third concern centers on Nigeria's growing dependence on China. There have been situations where Nigeria has had to jostle to find alternative sources of finance when China – or Chinese banks – declined to fund projects they had initially committed to. Recently, the China Exim Bank declined to proceed with the funding of projects. The Nigerian government was forced to approach Standard Chartered to bridge the gap after China Exim Bank disbursed only USD 1.3 billion of an estimated total loan of USD 8.3 billion for the Lagos-Kano railway – a major infrastructure project to link Nigeria's former capital and commercial center to its largest northern city.¹¹

GEOPOLITICS, CHINA, AND THE UNITED STATES: NIGERIA SEARCHES FOR THE BEST PRAGMATIC DEALS

Like China, the United States occupies an important position in Nigeria's economic, political and security relations. So far, US-China rivalry has had only a minimal impact on Nigeria. However, there could be a drastic impact if the rivalry persists and deepens. For instance, Nigeria's telecommunications industry is increasingly dominated by Chinese technology firms led by Huawei, a multinational equipment and service provider with credit lines from state-owned Chinese banks.¹²

Thus, if the so-called 'splinternet' emerges – with Chinese and US technologies supporting different digital and internet ecosystems – it could have a disruptive impact and could force Nigeria(ns) to take sides. Not only have Chinese companies (e.g., Huawei and ZTE) dominated the telecommunications market by supplying the main service providers like MTN but also, like many African countries, Chinese-made smart phones have become popular in Nigeria.¹³ Meanwhile, the enormity of the internet split could have unintended implications and disruptions for the emerging fintechs in the West African country. It is important to mention that of the five fintech unicorns (i.e., start-ups worth over USD 1 billion) in Africa, three – "Interswitch, Flutterwave and Paystack – are Nigerian companies".¹⁴

Thus far, Nigerian governments have managed their relationships with the US and China in a strongly pragmatic way. As Foreign Minister Geoffrey Onyeama put it during US Secretary of State Antony Blinken's 2021 Africa trip, "It's not a question of one country or the other per se; it's really a question of the best deal that we can strike."¹⁵

Nigeria had a democratic transition of power in 2015, after the ruling Peoples Democratic Party (PDP) lost to the All Progressive Congress (APC). The next general election is due in early 2023 and will take place at a critical moment in the country's history because, aside from the many security challenges, the country is confronted with socio-economic challenges. For instance, the outbreak of Covid-19 compounds the afore-mentioned preNigeria has managed relations with the US and China strongly pragmatic Covid poverty situation. Public universities have been on strike and their students have been at home for months. Given the level of frustration with the current government, there is a real chance for the opposition to return to power – although the current President, Muhammadu Buhari, will not be on the ballot. Instead, a former Governor of Lagos, Bola Ahmed Tinubu of the APC will be contesting against PDP's Atiku Abubakar, a former Vice President, for the top job.

Although its relationship with China is important and strong, Nigeria's political system and political affinities are more in tune with that of the US and Western Europe. Local media, civil society and successive governments offer a space where US and EU interests have operated without Chinese interference.

PERCEPTIONS: CHINA IS SEEN AS A PARTNER DESPITE UPS AND DOWNS

Public perceptions of China in Nigeria are generally positive.¹⁶ Afrobarometer polls in 2020 reported that 62 percent of Nigerians viewed China as a positive influence on their country – the same percentage as rated the United States positively.¹⁷ The trend continued in 2021, when 63 percent of Nigerians considered China's political and economic influence as positive and gave the United States the same 63 percent score.¹⁸ At the elite level, China is considered a partner and seen as an alternative to traditional sources of development finance.

Top level political office holders in Nigeria and China have periodically exchanged visits. For instance, President Jiang Zemin and President Hu Jintao visited Nigeria in 2002 and 2006, respectively, after President Olusegun Obasanjo visited China in 1999 and 2005. President Umaru Yar' Adua (in 2008), President Goodluck Jonathan (in 2013), and the sitting President, Buhari (in 2016) visited China.¹⁹ In addition to China's Premier Li Keqiang's visit to Nigeria in 2014, Chinese foreign ministers like Yang Jiechi (in 2010, and as President Xi Jinping's special envoy in 2019), and Wang Yi (in 2017 and 2021) have visited Nigeria.

Anti-Chinese sentiment has occasionally flared up after, triggered by the maltreatment of Nigerians in Guangzhou in 2020 during the Covid-19 pandemic or the periodic maltreatment of locals by some Chinese companies in Nigeria.²⁰ But these episodes have gradually faded, and the usual friendly relations returned. Of the 34 African countries, Nigerian ranked seventh highest in rating the Chinese development model best for their country in the 2019/2021 Afrobarometer survey. It was favored by 29 percent of respondents, though 36 percent favored the US model.²¹

However, there are controversial issues amid these broadly positive views of China. The decimation of the local textile industry is a focus of anti-China feelings, although government policies on textiles and other local factors have contributed to that industry's decline as well. Thousands have protested against Chinese textile imports.²²

The Nigeria-China relationship has gone through occasional sharp swings and instabilities over economic matters. When the government of President Olusegun Obasanjo initiated the short-lived oil-for-infrastructure policy with China in 2006, seeking to pay for Chinese infrastructure with oil, it was cancelled after only a few months by his hand-picked successor who was also from the PDP. Another example of instability in the economic relationship was China Exim Bank's reluctance to proceed with funding the Lagos-Kano railway project.²³ Although Nigeria's ruling elites generally consider China a reliable alternative source of development finance, this perception, too, is susceptible to oscillations.

Public perceptions of China in Nigeria are generally positive

OUTLOOK: A CAUTIOUS CHINA REMAINS AN ATTRACTIVE ALTERNATIVE

China has become a reliable major player in Nigeria's infrastructure development over the last 20 years. However, the future relationship will need to weather increasing regional instability and push back against Chinese debt. Nigeria's oil-rich economy is rent-seeking and has relied on exports of raw crude for years, though China is not a major market for Nigeria's oil. More seriously, the impending global shift to renewable energy could devastate the economy.

Meanwhile, Nigeria is moving into an election period that will culminate in general elections in early 2023. The elections will likely take place amid escalating regional frictions. There is ongoing conflict in the northeast; simmering tensions in the southeast where there is a secessionist group and a call for an Ibo presidency; and persistent frictions in the southwest, where herdsmen attacks on local communities have generated fresh local nationalism that led to the first region-based security outfit, *Amotekun*, by the southwest governments in 2020 and attacks on a Fulani community in Oyo, a southwest state, by a pro-Yoruba Nation secessionist group led by Sunday "Igboho" Adeyemo in 2021. China appears to be pulling the breaks on some projects.²⁴ Although this hesitancy could be tied to uncertainty in an election year, the question of Chinese loans to Nigeria becoming unsustainable is an issue.

Chinese development finance has led to a rise in debt. According to the Nigerian Debt Management Office, Chinese loans to Nigeria stood at about 10 percent (USD 3.3 billion) of the total external debt (USD 33.3 billion) at end-December 2020.²⁵ While this appears manageable in terms of the total external debt portfolio, China is Nigeria's top bilateral lender with 80 percent of the bilateral loans – which includes loans from France (USD 494 million), Germany (USD 184 million), Japan (USD 80 million), and India (USD 37 million). Thus, the narrative of a Chinese debt trap used by Western diplomats may soon find its way into national discourse. In 2020, questions about Chinese loans affecting Nigeria's sovereignty became a major issue in the National Assembly and in the news.²⁶

Although China has not become an election issue in Nigeria (as it did in Zambia's 2006 national election), political elites have a tendency to criticize its conduct, especially when in opposition. The most frequent criticisms focus on growing Chinese loans to the government; the lack of transparency in such loan agreements; and the number of Chinese citizens working on China-funded construction projects. A cautious China may therefore be responding to local realities so as to reposition itself for all possible election outcomes.

In conclusion, Nigeria-China trade has increased in the last 20 years but in China's favor. Although the voices of local stakeholders will become louder, the trade imbalance in favor of China will continue – at least until Nigeria's government creates the necessary environment for local manufacturing to reverse the current situation. However, non-state actors like the media and civil society groups will remain critical elements in Nigeria-China relations. They are able to push back at the illiberal influence of Beijing and of Chinese companies where the Nigerian state fails.

Questions about Chinese loans affecting Nigeria's sovereignty became a major issue

The impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict: Security relations with China could deepen

Nigeria's response to Russia's invasion of Ukraine has mainly been to organize the evacuation of its stranded citizens in Ukraine and support the March 2022 UN resolution condemning the invasion. Nigeria's relations with Russia are cordial (it has been a longstanding alternative source of military support ever since the 1960s Biafra War), the conflict in Ukraine could deepen Nigeria's security relations with China, in the wake of Western sanctions on Russia.

As Nigeria's struggles with escalating banditry and the conflicts with Boko Haram and Islamic State in West Africa Province (ISWAP), its reliance on Chinese military products will increase in the short and medium term. Western reluctance to sell weapons to the Nigerian government will play a role.

Rumors that Russian hackers were targeting Nigerian websites following the invasion increased anti-Russia commentaries online and in the media and could complicate this shift. There is no indication that China's response to the invasion, specifically its reluctance to criticize Russia, will affect Nigeria-China relations.

ENDNOTES

- 1 | Olurounbi, Ruth. Al Jazeera (2022a). "Africa's largest economy, Nigeria, tops growth forecasts," February, 17. <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/economy/2022/2/17/africas-largest-economy-nige-ria-tops-growth-forecasts</u>. Accessed: March 22, 2022.
- 2 | Lain, Jonathan, Schoch, Marta & Vishwanath, Tara. World Bank Blog (2022). "Picking up the pace of poverty reduction in Nigeria." March 22. <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/africacan/afw-picking-pace-poverty-reduction-nigeria</u>. Accessed: April 2, 2022.
- 3 | SAIS-CARI (2020). "Data: Chinese investment in Africa." <u>http://www.sais-cari.org/chinese-invest-ment-in-africa</u>. Accessed: February 10, 2022.
- 4 | Defenceweb. (2020). "Nigerian military receives tanks, artillery from China." April 9. <u>https://www.defenceweb.co.za/featured/nigerian-military-receives-tanks-artillery-from-china/</u>. Accessed: April 10, 2022.
- 5 | Abuh, Adamu. The Guardian (2020). "Why House of Representatives resolved to probe Chinese loans." May 25. <u>https://guardian.ng/politics/why-house-of-representatives-resolved-to-probe-chinese-loans/</u>. Accessed: February 10, 2022.
- 6 | Yakubu, Dirisu. Vanguard (2020). "NASS probe may frustrate Chinese loan for rail projects Amaechi." July, 30. <u>https://www.vanguardngr.com/2020/07/nass-probe-may-frustrate-chinese-loan-for-rail-projects-amaechi/</u>. Accessed: February 11, 2022.
- 7 | Baiyewu, Leke. The Punch. (2021). "Reps panel chair silent on Chinese loans' probe discontinuation." July 5. <u>https://punchng.com/reps-panel-chair-silent-on-chinese-loans-probe-discontinuation/</u>. Accessed: April 3, 2022.
 ThisDay. 2021. "Ninth House and Her Fruitless Probes." June 27. <u>https://www.thisdaylive.com/index.php/2021/06/27/ninth-house-and-her-fruitless-probes/</u>. Accessed: April 3, 2022.
- 8 | Vanguard. (2021). "Chinese envoy says loans to Nigeria mutually beneficial." July 22. <u>https://www.van-guardngr.com/2021/07/chinese-envoy-says-loans-to-nigeria-mutually-beneficial/</u>. Accessed: April 3, 2022.
- 9 | Daily Post. (2022). "Nigeria, China cooperation will be strengthened when PDP returns to power Iyorchia Ayu." February 4. <u>https://dailypost.ng/2022/02/04/nigeria-china-cooperation-will-be-strengthened-when-pdp-returns-to-power-iyorchia-ayu/</u>. Accessed: April 3, 2022.
- 10 | Agbakwuru, Johnbosco. Vanguard. (2022). "2023: Chinese Communist Party meets with IPAC in Abuja." March 17. <u>https://www.vanguardngr.com/2022/03/2023-chinese-communist-party-meets-with-ipac-in-abuja/</u>. Accessed: April 3, 2022.
 Daily Post. (2022). "Nigeria, China cooperation will be strengthened when PDP returns to power Iyorchia Ayu." February 4. <u>https://dailypost.ng/2022/02/04/nigeria-china-cooperation-will-be-strength-</u>

ened-when-pdp-returns-to-power-iyorchia-ayu/. Accessed: April 3, 2022.
 11 | Olurounbi, Ruth & Clowes, William. BNN Bloomberg (2022). "Nigeria gives up waiting for China Exim loan for railway project." February, 2. <u>https://www.bnnbloomberg.ca/nigeria-gives-up-waiting-for-chi-</u>

na-exim-loan-for-railway-project-1.1717326. Accessed: February 11, 2022. Olurounbi, Ruth. The African Report. (2022b). "Nigeria turns to Europe for rail loans as China talks hit dead end." February, 14. <u>https://www.theafricareport.com/176583/nigeria-turns-to-europe-for-railloans-as-china-talks-hit-dead-end/</u>. Accessed: February 11, 2022.

- 12 | Tugendhat, Henry (2020). "How Huawei succeeds in Africa: training and knowledge transfers in Kenya and Nigeria," *SAIS China Africa Research Initiative (CARI) Working Paper*, No. 34, pp. 1-30. Washington, D.C.: SAIS-CARI.
- 13 | Tugendhat, Henry (2020). "How Huawei succeeds in Africa: training and knowledge transfers in Kenya and Nigeria," *SAIS China Africa Research Initiative (CARI) Working Paper*, No. 34, pp. 1-30. Washington, D.C.: SAIS-CARI.
- 14 | PEVCA (2022). "The Rise of FinTech in Nigeria." February 3. <u>https://pevcang.org/the-rise-of-fintech-in-nigeria/</u>. Accessed: February 4, 2022.
- 15 | Lee, Matthew. AP News (2021). "In Africa, Blinken sees limits of US influence abroad." November, 22. https://apnews.com/article/coronavirus-pandemic-health-china-antony-blinken-nigeria-ae944eaf-8e5ecfbb3661651fce69784e. Accessed: February 11, 2022.
- 16 | Seteolu, Folabi & Oshodi, Abdul-Gafar T. (2018). "Oscillation of two Giants: Sino-Nigeria Relations and the Global South." *Journal of Chinese Political Science* 23(2): 257-285. Springer.
- 17 | Appiah-Nyamekye Sanny, Josephine & Selormey, Edem. Afrobarometer (2020). "Africans regard China's influence as significant and positive but slipping." No. 407, November, 17. <u>https://afrobarometer.org/</u> <u>sites/default/files/publications/Dispatches/ad407-chinas_perceived_influence_in_africa_decreas-</u> <u>es-afrobarometer_dispatch-14nov20.pdf</u>. Accessed: February 11, 2022.
- 18 | Appiah-Nyamekye Sanny, Josephine & Selormey, Edem. Afrobarometer. (2021). "Africans welcome China's influence but maintain democratic aspirations." No. 4891, November, 15. <u>https://afrobarometer.org/sites/default/files/publications/Dispatches/ad489-pap3-africans_welcome_chinas_influence_maintain_democratic_aspirations-afrobarometer_dispatch-15nov21.pdf. Accessed: February 11, 2022.</u>
- 19 | Seteolu, Folabi & Oshodi, Abdul-Gafar T. (2018). "Oscillation of two Giants: Sino-Nigeria Relations and the Global South." *Journal of Chinese Political Science* 23(2): 257-285. Springer.

20 | Oshodi, Abdul-Gafar T. The Conversation (2020). "Why Maltreatment of Nigerians in China may not End Soon." May 28. <u>https://theconversation.com/why-maltreatment-of-nigerians-in-china-may-not-endsoon-137828</u>. Accessed: February 11, 2022.
Oshodi, Abdul-Gafar T. (2015). "Between the Dragon's Gift and its Claws: China in Africa and the (Un) Civil fostering of ILO's Decent Work Agenda." In: Axel Marx, Jan Wouters, Glenn Rayp & Laura Beke (eds.). Global Governance of Labor Rights: Assessing the Effectiveness of Transnational Public and Private Policy Initiatives, 190-208. Massachusetts, US: Edward Elgar.

- 21 | Appiah-Nyamekye Sanny, Josephine & Selormey, Edem. Afrobarometer. (2021). "Africans welcome China's influence but maintain democratic aspirations." No. 4891, November, 15. <u>https://afrobarometer.org/sites/default/files/publications/Dispatches/ad489-pap3-africans_welcome_chinas_influence_maintain_democratic_aspirations-afrobarometer_dispatch-15nov21.pdf</u>. Accessed: February 11, 2022.
- Muhammed, Murtala. The Guardian (2015). "Kano residents protest presence of Chinese textiles in their market." May 14. <u>https://guardian.ng/news/kano-residents-protest-presence-of-chinese-textiles-in-their-market/</u>. Accessed: February 11, 2022.
 Ewepu, Gabriel. Vanguard (2018). "Cotton farmers accuse China over collapse of textile industries." March 19. <u>https://www.vanguardngr.com/2018/03/cotton-farmers-accuse-china-collapse-textile-industries/</u>. Accessed: February 11, 2022.
- 23 | Seteolu, Folabi & Oshodi, Abdul-Gafar T. (2018). "Oscillation of two Giants: Sino-Nigeria Relations and the Global South." *Journal of Chinese Political Science* 23(2): 257-285. Springer.
- 24 | Ajobaju, Jeph. The Niche. (2021). "Abuja sourcing \$1b for AKK pipeline as China delays funding." August 9. <u>https://www.thenicheng.com/abuja-sourcing-1b-for-akk-pipeline-as-china-delays funding/</u>. Accessed: February 10, 2022.
 Olumhense, Sonala. The Punch (2021). "Lessons of Nigeria's coastal rail." September 19. <u>https://punchng.com/lessons-of-nigerias-coastal-rail/</u>. Accessed: February 11, 2022.
- 25 | DMO (2020). "Nigeria's External Debt Stock as of December 31, 2020, in Millions of USD." December, 31. <u>https://www.dmo.gov.ng/debt-profile/external-debts/external-debt-stock/3489-nigeria-s-external-debt-stock-as-at-december-31-2020/file</u>. Accessed: February 10, 2022.
- 26 | Onoja, Adagbo. The Diplomat (2020). "How China lost Nigeria." August 25. <u>https://thediplomat.</u> <u>com/2020/08/how-china-lost-nigeria/</u>. Accessed: February 11, 2022.
SAUDI ARABIA

Saudi Arabia's once marginal relationship with China has grown into a comprehensive strategic partnership

Naser Al-Tamimi

SAUDI ARABIA

Country factsheet

MAIN CHINA-BACKED INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS AND HOLDINGS



Sources: MERICS, China's Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Comtrade, SIPRI, AEI China Global Investment Tracker

SAUDI ARABIA

Saudi Arabia's once marginal relationship with China has grown into a comprehensive strategic partnership

Naser Al-Tamimi

Saudi Arabia is unlikely now, or in the immediate future, to turn to China as a military replacement for the United States as good relations with Washington remain a key Saudi foreign policy objective. However, Riyadh may begin to seek multiple political-security arrangements over time, should the developing rift with Washington deepen, or the United States pay less attention to the Middle East.

STATUS QUO: COOPERATION IS EXPANDING ACROSS MANY POLICY ISSUES

Over the last thirty years, Sino-Saudi political, economic and military ties have deepened. Saudi Arabia has become China's largest trading partner in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA), and China's top global supplier of crude oil.¹Conversely, China is Saudi Arabia's biggest trading partner and crude oil customer.

Last year, China took 27 percent of Saudi Arabia's total crude oil exports, lifting its volumes by 3.4 percent to an annual record of 1.75 million barrel per day (mb/d). This happened even as China's overall crude imports fell for the first time in 20 years.² China is also the largest trading partner for Saudi Arabia's chemical industry, taking almost a quarter of the Kingdom's exports from this sector.³

Their bilateral trade involves huge sums but remains narrowly based; more than 95 percent of China's 2021 imports from the Kingdom consisted of petroleum oils, plastics, and organic chemicals.⁴

Annual bilateral trade volume was worth USD 87.31 billion at the end of 2021, an almost 209-fold increase from USD 418 million when diplomatic relations were established in 1990, just over thirty years ago.⁵

Saudi Arabia has also been the largest regional recipient of Chinese contracting and investment, which totaled nearly USD 43.5 billion between 2005 and 2021.⁶ In turn, Saudi Arabia has invested or is planning to invest about USD 35 billion in China-based projects, with production capacity reaching 7.5 million tons of chemicals, amounting to 45 percent of total overseas production capacity for Saudi producers.⁷

The scope of Sino-Saudi cooperation has expanded in recent years, branching out from the energy trade into investments in infrastructure, communications, high-tech, industry, finance, transport, renewable and nuclear energy, and arms production.

Co-operation has been bolstered by bilateral and regional coordination mechanisms to create synchronicity between China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) and the Kingdom's Saudi Vision 2030. The latter is a Saudi development strategy that aims to reduce Saudi Arabia's Bilateral trade involves huge sums but remains narrowly based reliance on oil, promote economic diversification, shrink the public sector's footprint and promote private sector development. These two mechanisms have fostered significant cooperation in many economic and investment areas.

Political ties have also developed steadily as the relationship between Riyadh and Beijing has grown from one of marginal importance into a "comprehensive strategic partnership."⁸ Both sides have focused attention on common ground and avoided causes of conflict such as human rights, or any comment on each other's domestic affairs. This framework of delicate diplomatic interaction has so far proven a success.⁹

However, China's improving relations with Iran may cause discomfort among Saudi leaders. Beijing and Tehran recently signed the 25-year China-Iran Cooperation Programme which reportedly enables China to buy energy cheaply in exchange for a commitment to significant investments in Iran's economy. For Riyadh, military cooperation between China and Iran is a major concern. So far, Beijing has taken a cautious approach toward Tehran, despite supporting the Iran nuclear deal. However, it is a certainty that the Saudis will monitor China-Iran relations – especially in the event of sanctions on Iran being lifted – and will be alert to any impacts on Saudi national security.

Sino-Saudi defense ties remain limited in scope, despite greater bilateral economic and diplomatic engagement. Defense ties are confined to joint exercises, counter-terrorism cooperation, sales of some weapon systems, and joint production of armed unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs).¹⁰ Beijing has limited capacity to compete with Western arms suppliers, while the Saudi military's long-term dependence on US hardware means that Chinese arms will not easily integrate with pre-existing systems. In general, it takes years to complete diversification of weapons sources or any move towards local manufacture.

However, China has reportedly helped Riyadh to set up a nuclear program, including a "secret" yellowcake extraction plant, and improve its solid-fuel ballistic launcher capabilities.¹¹ Although Riyadh "categorically denies" that it has built a uranium ore facility in the area described by a media report, Saudi Arabia's energy ministry Prince Abdulaziz bin Salman confirmed the existence of a contract with China for uranium exploration in certain areas.¹² Prince Abdulaziz also confirmed that his country has plans to develop its uranium resources with a view to supporting its nascent nuclear power program. "We do have a huge amount of uranium resource which we would like to exploit, and we will be doing it in the most transparent way (...) We will be bringing partners and we will be exploiting that resource, and we will be developing all the way to the yellowcake," Saudi Arabia's energy ministry told the Future Minerals Summit in Riyadh in January 2022.¹³

There is also potential for Chinese companies to win more Saudi defense procurement deals over the next decade, particularly as Riyadh may seek to strengthen strategic ties with Beijing and receive technology transfers through offsets, particularly for drones, light weapons, and some types of armor or even missiles.¹⁴ Saudi Arabia was the world's second-largest arms importer in 2017-21 (just behind India) and accounted for 11 percent of all imports of major arms. Nevertheless, Saudi Arabia purchased less than 1 percent of its arms imports from China in that period. The United States was by far the largest arms supplier to Saudi Arabia in 2017-21, supplying 82 percent of the Kingdom's arms imports.¹⁵

Saudi Arabia's strong US military ties may limit Riyadh's openness to any increased Chinese military presence in the Kingdom – at least in the short term. Riyadh's ability to maneuver US-China tensions is likely to be tested in the months ahead as Washington may well pres-

China has reportedly helped Riyadh to set up a nuclear program sure Gulf Cooperation Council states to limit their interactions with China, especially if Beijing faces secondary US sanctions linked to the war in Ukraine.

GEOPOLITICS: SEEKING A BALANCE BETWEEN WASHINGTON AND BEIJING

Although Saudi Arabia seeks economic and diplomatic benefits from a greater Chinese role in the Middle East, Riyadh knows it must balance such long-term benefits against the more immediate imperative not to alienate the United States.¹⁶ Saudi Arabia is also aware that China's sustained economic growth may eventually translate into increased military power, expressed in more assertive strategies in the Middle East and beyond.

However, Saudi leaders do not believe China possesses the necessary capabilities to provide a credible alternative to the US security umbrella in the Gulf or broader Middle East.¹⁷ Nor is China strategically motivated to do so. Riyadh faces complications from any US pressure to limit engagement with China, particularly in military affairs. It needs to find a difficult balance between deepening ties with China, its top economic partner, and appeasing its historic ally, the United States.¹⁸

To this end, Saudi Arabia is working along parallel routes: strengthening its independent military capabilities and aggressively diversifying economic and military ties with key external players. To offset declining US security support in the near term, Saudi Arabia will increasingly look to strengthen defense ties with European countries, plus China, India, Brazil, South Africa and even Turkey. It will hope these other partners can pump substantial investment into the growing Saudi arms industry. Eventually, the kingdom may also be tempted to deepen its defense ties with China and expand the ballistic missile program it is developing with Beijing's help.

PERCEPTIONS: GROWING SYMPATHY WITH CHINA'S POLITICAL MODEL

Saudi political and business elites increasingly perceive China as a superpower in the making and expect it to remain a top destination for their energy exports for the foreseeable future, making it vital to cultivate strategic relations with the rising power.

- Diplomacy: China is a permanent member of the UN Security Council (UNSC), and its political influence will increase over time as its economic and military power grows. Saudi leaders express appreciation for China's growth model, non-intervention policy, and opposition to interference in Saudi Arabia's internal affairs. The country has supported China's positions on Xinjiang and Hong Kong.¹⁹
- Economics: China is the world's second largest economy and could surpass the United States by the end of the 2030s. Saudi Arabia's Public Investment Fund (PIF) has applied for a license that would enable it to make major investments in Chinese companies. This is a new direction for PIF as it has so far focused on US and European overseas holdings. As a Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor (QFII) license-holder, PIF will be able to trade renminbi-denominated stocks directly, instead of through third parties.²⁰ In the energy sector, China is the world's largest energy consumer and top largest oil importer. According to projections by the International Energy Agency (IEA), China will remain Saudi Arabia's top crude market for the foreseeable future.²¹ Although Saudi leaders have pledged to diversify, to develop new sources of non-oil in-

Saudi leaders do not believe China can provide a credible alternative to the US security umbrella come, the Saudi economy will depend on energy exports for many years to come.²² New opportunities are emerging from the Saudi Green Initiative program, which promises to facilitate some USD 190 billion-worth of green investment by 2030.²³ As China is the world's leading manufacturer, user, and exporter of green technologies, Saudi projects can bolster China's domination of the green energy supply chain.²⁴

Military: China has the world's largest army; it is a nuclear power and has the second-largest military budget after the United States. Many Chinese weapons remain less technologically sophisticated than those of Western military powers. However, China is expected to close the technological gap during the next decade or so.²⁵

Beijing's efforts to advance the BRI in the Gulf seem to be broadly welcomed by the Saudi population, though the lack of independent polling makes it challenging to gauge Saudi public opinion. There are no well-established local polling firms and government influence has an inhibiting effect on the sector and the public. A recent poll commissioned by the Washington Institute on key foreign policy issues found that almost 50 percent of Saudis view good ties with China as "important," compared with 37 percent who regard the United States as important.²⁶ A recent Ipsos survey on the future of the world order reported that 84 percent of Saudi respondents agree China offers a political and economic model for their country to emulate.²⁷

Here, it is worth noting that the catastrophic repercussions of the so-called Arab Spring of 2011 have undermined the attractiveness of the Western model of democracy. China's political model, at least as perceived in Saudi Arabia by respondents ranging from the political elite to ordinary citizens, gets points for avoiding political tumult and for its association with stability and economic growth.

OUTLOOK: RIYADH DISTANCES ITSELF FROM SEEMINGLY UNRELIABLE WASHINGTON

Washington's growing reluctance to engage militarily in the Middle East has stoked concerns among Saudi leaders that the United States cannot be counted on for support in the event of a conflict. The rapid US withdrawal from Afghanistan in 2021 provided the starkest example yet of its desire to disentangle itself from lengthy, costly Middle East conflicts.²⁸

It appears that Saudi Arabia is already preparing for the eventuality that the United States may be reluctant to intervene in crises. The Saudi-led intervention in Yemen's civil war since early 2015 reflects this. Riyadh has been acting more independently of the United States in recent years, setting a new norm that is likely to persist.²⁹

From the Saudi perspective, Iran is the primary security challenge in the Middle East regardless of whether the United States rejoins the Iran nuclear deal or not. US policies and a renewed Iran nuclear deal are likely to ease regional tensions, but Riyadh fears the consequences. Once pressure on Iran eases, Tehran will be freer to resume an assertive foreign policy over the medium-to-long term and threaten Saudi interests.³⁰

Some of these Saudi concerns appear to resonate in Beijing. US intelligence agencies reportedly believe Saudi Arabia is now actively manufacturing its own ballistic missiles with China's help.³¹ More broadly, if the Saudi elite lose faith in US willingness to defend their interests, perhaps due to the failure to halt Iran's nuclear program, the Kingdom will be more likely to accelerate its own nuclear programs.³²

Saudi leaders are concerned the US can't be counted on in the event of a conflict

Saudi Arabia and the war in Ukraine: Reaping the benefits of higher oil prices

On March 1, the Saudi cabinet affirmed support for international efforts to achieve de-escalation in Ukraine through dialogue and diplomacy, and to restore security and stability. Saudi Arabia backed the March 2 UN General Assembly resolution condemning Russia's invasion of Ukraine.

Although Saudi Arabia would like to sit on the fence, US efforts to isolate oil-producer Russia over the war in Ukraine have handed Riyadh an opportunity to leverage its oil policy to re-calibrate relations with the United States, and a chance to regain the West's support for its security concerns. Saudi Arabia will also reap the benefits of higher oil prices. However, Saudi Arabia also wants to be seen as reliable guardian of the oil market, for instance by keeping its long-held pledge to stabilize the market and maintain acceptable prices for consumers and producers.

Meanwhile, Riyadh has signaled it wants closer ties with Beijing by inviting China's President Xi Jinping to visit Saudi Arabia this year. The Wall Street Journal also reported that Saudi Arabia was in talks to price some sales of crude to China in yuan.

ENDNOTES

- 1 | Saudi Arabia has remained China's top supplier since 2002, losing that place to Russia only briefly in 2016-2018.
- 2 | See: MEES (2022). "China 2021 Crude Imports: Saudi Top As Iran Volumes Rise." January 21. http://archives.mees.com/issues/1938/articles/60490. Accessed: January 29, 2022. And MEES (2022). "Saudi Crude Oil Exports Sink To 11-Year Low For 2021; Now For The Rebound." January 7. http://archives.mees.com/issues/1936/articles/60427. Accessed: January 29, 2022.
- 3 | Al-Tamimi, Naser (2022). "China and Saudi Arabia From enmity to strategic hedging." In: Fulton, Jonathan (eds.) Routledge Handbook on China-Middle East Relations, 137-154. London and New York: Routledge. P. 143
- 4 | See: <u>https://comtrade.un.org/</u>
- 5 | General Administration of Customs of the People's Republic of China (2022). "Total imports and exports by country or region 2021." http://www.customs.gov.cn/customs/302249/zfxxgk/2799825/302274/302277/302276/4127455/index.html. January 18. Accessed: February 11, 2022.
- 6 | See China Global Investment Tracker. https://www.aei.org/china-global-investment-tracker/
- 7 | Chen, Dongmei. KAPSARC (2021). "China's BRI and Saudi Vision 2030: A Review to Partnership for Sustainability." https://www.kapsarc.org/research/publications/chinas-bri-and-saudi-vision-2030-areview-to-partnership-for-sustainability/October 24. Accessed: February 6, 2022. 8 | Ibid.
- 9 | Al-Tamimi, "China and Saudi Arabia: From enmity to strategic hedging." Ibid, p. 142.
- 10 | Ibid, p. 146.
- 11 | Lim, Kevin. Institute for National Security Studies (2021). "China-Iran Relations: Strategic, Economic, and Diplomatic Aspects in Comparative Perspective." https://www.inss.org.il/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Memo213 e.pdf. Accessed: February 1, 2022.
- 12 | Middle East Eye (2020). "Saudi Arabia constructs facility for extracting uranium yellowcake: Report." August 5. https://www.middleeasteye.net/news/saudi-arabia-nuclear-programme-china-yellowcake-uranium. Accessed: January 31, 2022.
- 13 | See Gnana, Jennifer. S&P Global, (2022). "Saudi Arabia to develop 'huge' uranium resources in energy diversity push: minister." January 12. https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/market-insights/latest-news/electric-power/011222-saudi-arabia-to-develop-huge-uranium-resources-in-energy-diversity-push-minister. Accessed: January 31, 2022, and CNN (2022). "Saudi Energy Minister: We have a huge amount of uranium, and we will exploit it." January 13. https://arabic.cnn.com/business/ article/2022/01/13/saudi-energy-minister-yellow-cake. Accessed: January 31, 2022.
- 14 | Fitch Solutions Country Risk & Industry Research (2021). Saudi Arabia Crime, Defence & Security Report, 2021. London: Fitch Solutions Group. P. 26
- 15 | SIPRI Fact Sheet (2022). "Trends in International Arms Transfers, 2021." March 15. https://www.sipri. org/publications/2022/sipri-fact-sheets/trends-international-arms-transfers-2021. Accessed: March 20, 2022.
- 16 | Al- Tamimi, Naser. European Council on Foreign Relations (2019). "The GCC's China Policy: Hedging Against Uncertainty." In Lons, Camille (eds.) "China's Great Game in the Middle East." October 21. https://ecfr.eu/publication/china_great_game_middle_east/. Accessed: February 10, 2022.
- 17 | Ibid.
- 18 | Ibid.
- 19 | CGTN (2021). "China, Saudi Arabia vow to oppose interference in other countries internal affairs." March, 25. https://news.cgtn.com/news/2021-03-25/China-Saudi-Arabia-vow-to-oppose-interference-in-internal-affairs-YUuoTSUFbO/index.html. Accessed: February 8, 2022.
- 20 | Martin, Matthew. Bloomberg (2021). "Saudi Wealth Fund Moves Step Closer to Direct China Stock Deals." November 4. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2021-11-04/saudi-wealth-fundmoves-step-closer-to-direct-china-stock-deals. Accessed: February 1, 2022.
- 21 | About 60 percent, or USD 149 billion, of the Saudi budget in 2021 derived from oil. The kingdom needs to diversify income sources as world demand for fossil fuels shifts. https://www.ft.com/content/6dce7e6b-0cce-49f4-a9f8-f80597d1653a
- 22 | IISS (2021). "Relations between China and the Arab Gulf states." Strategic Comments, 27(10), iv-vi. DOI: 10.1080/13567888.2021.2021685
- 23 | Economist Intelligence Unit (2021). "Middle East is highly exposed to climate change." November 18. https://www.eiu.com/industry/energy/middle-east-and-africa/saudi-arabia. Accessed: January 31, 2022.
- 24 | Allison, Graham. Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs, (2021). "The Great Rivalry: China vs. the U.S. in the 21st Century." December 7. https://www.belfercenter.org/publication/great-tech-rivalry-china-vs-us. Accessed: January 31, 2022.
- 25 | IISS (2022). "The Military Balance 2022." https://www.iiss.org/events/2022/02/military-balance-2022-launch. February 2022. Accessed: February 14, 2022.
- 26 | Pollock, David. Washington Institute for Near East Policy (2020). "Saudi Poll: China Leads U.S.; Majority Back Curbs on Extremism, Coronavirus." July 31. https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/saudi-poll-china-leads-us-majority-back-curbs-extremism-coronavirus. Accessed: February 9, 2022.
- 27 | Statista Research. (2021) "Share of respondents in Saudi Arabia who agreed that China offers a political and economic model they would like to emulate as of September 2019." October 19, https://www.statista.com/statistics/1091386/saudi-arabia-perception-on-china-s-political-and-economic-model/2021. Accessed: February 2, 2022.

- 28 | Economist Intelligence Unit (2021). "US Afghanistan withdrawal: the impact on MENA geopolitical risk." September 3. <u>https://www.eiu.com/n/campaigns/geopolitics-in-the-middle-east/</u>. Accessed: January 30, 2022.
- 29 | Fitch Solutions (2021). "US Unlikely To Substantially Reduce Gulf Military Presence Over Next Decade." March, 2. <u>https://www.fitchsolutions.com/defence-security/us-unlikely-substantially-reduce-gulf-military-presence-over-next-decade-02-03-2021</u>. Accessed: February 9, 2022.
- 30 | Fitch Solutions Country Risk & Industry Research (2021). Saudi Arabia Country Risk Report, Q1 2022. London: Fitch Solutions Group.
- 31 | Cohen, Zachary. CNN (2021). "CNN Exclusive: US intel and satellite images show Saudi Arabia is now building its own ballistic missiles with help of China." December 23. <u>https://edition.cnn.</u> <u>com/2021/12/23/politics/saudi-ballistic-missiles-china/index.html</u>. Accessed: February 8, 2022.
- 32 | Al- Tamimi. "The GCC's China Policy: Hedging Against Uncertainty." Ibid.

TURKEY

Turkey-China relations: Ankara must balance complications on many fronts

Kadir Temiz

TURKEY

Country factsheet

MAIN CHINA-BACKED INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS AND HOLDINGS



- 1 Ankara-Istanbul High Speed Rail Project, train line from Ankara to Istanbul
- 2 Amasra Hattat Power Plant (coal), Amasra, Bartın Province
- Emba Hunutlu Power Station (coal), Sugözü, Yumurtalık District, Adana Province



Sources: MERICS, China's Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Comtrade, SIPRI, AEI China Global Investment Tracker

TURKEY

Turkey-China relations: Ankara must balance complications on many fronts

Kadir Temiz

Turkey has a serious foreign policy dilemma given current geopolitical developments. On the one hand, Turkey is a NATO member and relies on the Euro-Atlantic security alliance against regional and global security threats. On the other hand, Turkey's political and economic expectations from membership of the West (as represented by NATO membership) have been challenged by Russian and Chinese political and economic influences in the last decade. Turkey's foreign policy orientation is therefore being shaped by these new political, economic, and security conditions.

STATUS QUO: PULLED BETWEEN CHINA'S ECONOMIC BENEFITS AND WESTERN SECURITY ALLIES

China and Turkey upgraded their relationship to a "strategic partnership" in 2010, becoming political, economic, and security partners.¹ Prior to that, China played a minor role in Turkish foreign policy as an emerging economic actor alongside countries such as Brazil, India and South Africa. Sino-Turkish bilateral relations have deepened since 2010, particularly in the economic field. However, their diplomatic status quo rests on two factors. First, the continued strengthening of economic ties. And second, a tacit understanding not to bring political disagreements to the table. All diplomatic activities are designed to protect this status quo.

Although each country prioritizes the economic relationship, there is much about the bilateral relationship that looks like a one-way street. For example, since Jiang Zemin's visit in 2000, Chinese presidents have not paid an official visit to Ankara.² Despite signing a "strategic partnership", China does not view the relationship as a strategically significant one. Meanwhile, Turkey has paid several high-level visits to Beijing since 2000.³ Besides the President Recep Tayyip Erdogan's attendance at the opening ceremony of the 2017 Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) Forum in Beijing, he has paid four official visits to Beijing since 2014.⁴

Relations were strengthened by China's display of support for Turkey's elected government after the 2016 coup attempt, shown by a prompt visit from Deputy Foreign Minister Zhang Ming three weeks later.⁵ President Erdogan's speech at the 2017 BRI Forum's opening ceremony was in part to show appreciation.⁶

However, Beijing's treatment of the Uyghur population in Xinjiang remains a major cause of diplomatic tension.⁷ China has established internment camps to eradicate so-called "terrorism" in Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region (XUAR).⁸ Except for a few official statements, Turkey's government has not taken concrete steps against China's new securitization policies in the XUAR. China is inclined to play the "Kurdish card" in response to Turkey's official statements criticizing human rights violations in Xinjiang, effectively accusing Turkey of hypocrisy.⁹ Beijing's treatment of Uyghurs in Xinjiang remains a cause for tensions Under pressure from recent developments in world politics and regional crises, China and Turkey's current security status quo is fragile. Turkey belongs to the NATO alliance and is a candidate country to join the European Union. Although China has not directly targeted the Euro-Atlantic alliance as Russia has, there are several controversial economic and political issues such as human rights, democracy, and policies against the market economy. Furthermore, Turkey and China hold different positions on regional crises such as the Syrian civil war, the Nagarno-Qarabag conflict, Kosovo, and Cyprus questions. China also holds an entirely different position from Turkey towards Russian aggression in Eastern Europe and the Caucasus. In the case of Syria, for example, Turkey's ambassador Emin Onen has expressed dissatisfaction at China's criticism of Turkish military operations in Syria.¹⁰

Sino-Turkish economic relations have improved greatly since 2001. Bilateral trade volumes were worth USD 32 billion in 2021, compared to USD 1 billion in 2001.¹¹ However, Turkey has a trade deficit with China – imports are worth roughly nine times the value of Turkish exports. In 2019, capital goods worth around USD 7 billion made up the biggest share of total trade volume. Machines and electrical goods ranked second; they were worth approximately USD 6 billion.¹² Compared with China and Russia, the EU was Turkey's largest export and import partner in 2021. Approximately 33 percent of Turkey's imports came from the EU, which took 41 percent of the country's exports. By contrast, Turkish exports to China were only 2 percent of Turkey's total export volume in 2021. However, China was Turkey's largest import partner among individual countries. Russia was the second-largest import partner, taking goods worth approximately USD 29 billion; Germany was the third largest import partner with goods valued at roughly USD 22 billion in 2021.¹³

Foreign direct investment (FDI) is another important indicator of economic relations between China and Turkey. In 2021, China had 1060 registered firms in Turkey.¹⁴ Most made their investments between 2014-2019. Although China is not among the top 20 countries investing in Turkey, Chinese investors have vital interests there.¹⁵

Clearly, China continues to expand its economic activities in Turkey, regardless of the lack of transparency and reciprocity in bilateral economic relations. China's import and export share in the approximately USD 800 billion Turkish economy does not indicate severe dependency. However, the quality of the economic partnership, especially regarding the lack of reciprocity and the sizeable trade deficit, could stir suspicions among Turkish economic and political actors. Although Turkey can compete with China in some traditional sectors such as textiles, it faces increasing competitive challenges in advanced technological sectors such as telecommunications and electrical machinery.

GEOPOLITICS: NAVIGATING THE MIDDLE PATH BETWEEN GREAT POWERS

US-China rivalry may bring economic disadvantages for Turkey. Global economic tensions triggered by US-China trade wars may create economic uncertainty for Turkey; for instance, when the US began to limit steel and aluminum imports through higher tariffs, Turkey felt the impact of restrictions.¹⁶ Another concern is that China and the US might tighten their trade policies against third countries in order to counter each other. Turkey is also a logistics, trade, investment, and finance hub. A global economic crisis and decline in trade and investment could be a serious blow to the Turkish economy.

US-China rivalry also confronts Turkey with a geopolitical security dilemma. Turkey has security commitments to NATO. Especially in the last couple of years, China has raised its

Sino-Turkish economic relations have improved greatly since 2001 voice against the NATO alliance and criticized NATO's position towards Russia. This creates severe geopolitical risks for Turkey's eastern and Black Sea borders. For the time being, Turkey has not directly taken a position against either side in this rivalry. Turkey's hedging strategy has created a space for both political and economic interests. Turkey may turn toward a more aggressive approach against Russia and China if the rivalry goes forward.

Another geopolitical risk has arisen from China's ambitious Belt and Road Initiative (BRI). Although Turkey's middle corridor strategy coincides with China's BRI strategy, China's rising political and economic influence in nearby regions has the potential to threaten Turkey's national interests – for example, if China's economic influence in Northern Iraq and Syria were to turn into political and diplomatic influence. In the Syrian civil war, in ways opposed to Turkey's national interests, China has used its veto power several times in the UN Security Council.¹⁷ Moreover, BRI-linked debt traps or economic dependency (as seen in Pakistan and Sri Lanka) in nearby countries could pose fresh security headaches for Turkey.

PERCEPTIONS: TURKISH VIEWS OF CHINA ARE GENERALLY POSITIVE, WITH SOME RESERVATIONS

According to the Pew Research Centre, 37 percent of Turkish people surveyed held favorable views of China in 2018, far higher than the 20 percent approval rate for the United States.¹⁸ Public perceptions of China have improved in the last decade. China's public diplomacy efforts through China Radio International and the Confucius Institutes have contributed to bettering its image in Turkey. Five Confucius Institutes currently operate in Turkey to teach Mandarin and promote good cultural relations. While the first Confucius Institute opened in 2008 in Turkey, Yunus Emre Institute, which is Turkey's most influential public diplomacy tool, finally opened in China in 2021 after lengthy bureaucratic procedures were overcome.¹⁹

Apart from diplomatic relations, China and Turkey improved inter-governmental relations, establishing close bilateral ties in issues such as economics and politics. Opposition parties favor improved economic relations with China but have reservations on political issues, no-tably Uyghur civil and human rights.²⁰ Turkey's Good Party (İyi Parti in Turkish) published a report in December 2021 on human rights violations in the XUAR.²¹ It also urged the Turkish parliament to recognize the "Uyghur genocide."²² The Future Party (Gelecek Partisi in Turkish) has held several public events to give prominence to Uyghur voices.²³

Turkish business circles view China positively, though there are reservations about the lack of reciprocity. TÜSİAD (Turkish Industry and Business Association), one of Turkey's most influential business-oriented NGOs, has set up Shanghai Network to promote Turkish private sector opportunities in China.²⁴ MÜSİAD (Independent Industrialists and Businessmen's Association) has also opened several branches, including in Beijing, Shanghai, and Guangzhou, to boost Sino-Turkey-China commercial relationships.²⁵

OUTLOOK: TURKEY NEEDS TO DO SOME REBALANCING DUE TO CHINA'S INVOLVE-MENT IN REGIONAL ISSUES

To sum up, there are three mainstream policy narratives require revisions regarding China in Turkey. The first, and most influential, concerns economic relations. Reciprocity in bilateral trade relations and the trade deficit are the most significant controversies between Turkish business circles have reservations about the lack of reciprocity China and Turkey. Approximately 90 percent of total trade consists of Chinese imports to Turkey, giving rise to concerns about negative impacts on Turkish domestic producers.

The second, contested policy is related to political controversies between China and Turkey. For years, China accused Turkey of "protecting" Uyghur "terrorists" in Turkey and being a terrorist conduit to Syria.²⁶ Turkey has responded to these accusations by highlighting China's human rights violations in the XUAR.²⁷ Although Turkey prioritizes economic relations, political controversies create tension in domestic politics. Turkey is under pressure from the Uyghur diaspora living in Turkey and from domestic public opinion. Turkey should review the global, regional and domestic political cost of the Uyghur question. Given the strong accusations of human rights violations in XUAR, Turkey could support international efforts to end violations such as China's network of internment camps in the XUAR.

The third contested policy relates to geopolitical considerations stemming from China's influence in nearby regions, such as Central Asia, the Middle East, and the Balkans. China's economic influence in all three areas has grown. Turkey has taken a neutral stance towards China's opposition to Turkey's involvement in the Syrian civil war. In Central Asia, Turkey has increased its own influence through new partnerships such as the Organization of Turkic States.²⁸ In the Balkans, China's outreach risks generating instability in economic and political relations. On the other hand, collaboration with the EU may provide Turkey and the region with a stable and peaceful environment. Economic priorities, political disagreements, and geopolitical uncertainties complicate the future of Turkey-China relations. Therefore, for Turkey a balancing strategy in bilateral relations with China is not only an option but a rational necessity.

Turkey's reaction to Russia's invasion of Ukraine: Cautious diplomacy

Turkey openly condemned the Russian invasion of Ukraine and voted in favor of the 2 March UN General Assembly resolution demanding Russia immediately end its military operations there and withdraw to internationally recognized frontiers. However, Turkey did not support the US and European sanctions against Russia.

Turkey's policy towards the war is "cautious diplomacy" as it has close relations with both Ukraine and Russia. Turkey has sought to play a mediating role in this crisis rather than aligning itself with either side. It is a policy compatible with Turkey's national interests in the short term.

However, Turkey's mediation role cannot be sustained indefinitely as Turkey also has responsibilities as a NATO member. Turkey has stated several times that it would act together with NATO member countries to fulfill these responsibilities. These positions are not related to the policies of China regarding the Ukraine war, and the conflict has limited to no impact on Turkish views on China.

ENDNOTES

- 1 | Foreign Ministry of China (中国外交部). 2021. "China-Turkey Relations (同土耳其的关系) <u>https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/web/gjhdq_676201/gj_676203/yz_676205/1206_676956/sbgx_676960/</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 2 | Çolakoğu, Selçuk (2013), "Turkey-China Relations: Rising Partnership," Ortadoğu Analiz Nisan 2013, Cilt: 5, Sayı: 53, pp. 32-45.
- 3 | Temiz, Kadir (2022), "An Illustration of Sino-Turkish Relations: The Cyprus Question," Insight Turkey Winter 2018 / Volume 20, Number 1.
- 4 | Beyaz, Zafer Fatih. Anadolu Ajansı (2020). "Cumhurbaşkanı Erdoğan, 150. resmi yurt dışı ziyaretini Almanya'ya yapacak," January 18. <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/turkiye/cumhurbaskani-erdogan-150-re-</u> <u>smi-yurt-disi-ziyaretini-almanyaya-yapacak/1706348</u>. Accessed: May 25, 2022.
- 5 | Kabakci, Fuat. Anadolu Agency (2020). "China supported Turkey after 2016 coup bid." July 24. https://www.aa.com.tr/en/asia-pacific/china-supported-turkey-after-2016-coup-bid/1920523. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 6 | Presidency of the Republic of Türkiye, 2017. "A New Era will be Heralded in Our Region Based on Stability and Prosperity." May 14. <u>https://www.tccb.gov.tr/en/news/542/75199/a-new-era-will-be-heralded-in-our-region-based-on-stability-and-prosperity</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 7 | Ministry of Foreign Affairs, The Republic of Türkiye, 2019. "Statement of the Spokesperson of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Mr. Hami Aksoy, in response to a question regarding serious human rights violations perpetrated against Uighur Turks and the passing away of folk poet Abdurehim Heyit." February 9. <u>https://www.mfa.gov.tr/sc_-06_-uygur-turklerine-yonelik-agir-insan-haklari-ihlalleri-ve-abdurrehim-heyit-in-vefati-hk.en.mfa</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 8 | Uyghur Human Rights Project (2022), "Coerced Kinship: The Pomegranate Flower Plan and the Forced Assimilation of Uyghur Children." January 27. <u>https://uhrp.org/report/coerced-kinship-the-pomegranate-flower-plan-and-the-forced-assimilation-of-uyghur-children/</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 9 | Nurettin Akçay, "Amid Tensions With Turkey, China Is Putting the Kurdish Issue in Play," The Diplomat, December 04, 2021. <u>https://thediplomat.com/2021/12/amid-tensions-with-turkey-china-is-putting-the-kurdish-issue-in-play/</u>. Accessed: March 16, 2022.
- 10 | Keegan Elmer, "Turkey hits back at China's call to stop military action in Syria," South China Morning Post, October 21, 2019. <u>https://www.scmp.com/news/china/diplomacy/article/3033936/turkey-hitsback-chinas-call-stop-military-action-syria</u>. Accessed: March 16, 2022.
- 11 | Turkish Statistical Institute (2022), "Foreign Trade Statistics," <u>https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Kategori/GetKategori?p=dis-ticaret-104&dil=2</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 12 | World Bank (2022). "China-Turkey Trade Relations" <u>https://wits.worldbank.org/CountryProfile/en/Country/CHN/Year/2019/TradeFlow/EXPIMP/Partner/TUR/Product/all-groups</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 13 | Turkish Statistical Institute (2022), "Foreign Trade Statistics," <u>https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Kategori/GetKategori?p=dis-ticaret-104&dil=2</u>. Accessed: March 19, 2022.
- 14 | Ministry of Industry and Technology, The Republic of Türkiye, "Foreign Direct Investments," https://sanayi.gov.tr/istatistikler/yatirim-istatistikleri/mi0803011615. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 15 | Lerner, George Marshall (2020) "China to the Rescue in Turkey?" *The Diplomat*, July 3. <u>https://thediplo-mat.com/2020/07/china-to-the-rescue-in-turkey/</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 16 | "Turkey vows to defend domestic steel, aluminum exporters against additional US tariffs," Hürriyet Daily News August 12, 2018. <u>https://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/turkey-vows-to-defend-domes-</u> <u>tic-steel-aluminum-exporters-against-additional-us-tariffs-135707</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 17 | Michelle Nichols, "Russia, backed by China, casts 14th U.N. veto on Syria to block cross-border aid," Reuters, December 20, 2019. <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-syria-security-un-idUSKBN1Y023V</u>. Accessed: March 19, 2022.
- 18 | Pew Research (2018), "China's Public Perception in Turkey," <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/global/da-tabase/indicator/24/country/tr</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 19 | "Yunus Emre Institute Opened in Beijing," Yunus Emre Institute, June 18, 2021. <u>https://www.yee.org.tr/</u> <u>en/news/yunus-emre-institute-opened-beijing</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 20 | "CHP MP: Uighurs Shouldn't be Sacrificed for Relations with China," Bianet News Desk, January 17, 2020. <u>https://m.bianet.org/english/world/218754-chp-mp-uighurs-shouldn-t-be-sacrificed-for-re-lations-with-china</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 21 | "The Human Rights Report on China Uyghur Autonomous Region," İyi Parti, December 14, 2021. https://iyiparti.org.tr/storage/img/content/66M7/human-rights-report-on-china-uyghur-autonomous-region-english.pdf. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 22 | "IP to urge Turkish Parliament to recognize 'Uyghur genocide,'" Daily Sabah, February 28, 2021. https://www.dailysabah.com/politics/legislation/ip-to-urge-turkish-parliament-to-recognize-uyghurgenocide. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 23 | "Gelecek Partisi "Doğu Türkistan Farkındalık Toplantısı" düzenledi," Independent Türkçe, October 18, 2020. <u>https://www.indyturk.com/node/259466/siyaset/gelecek-partisi-do%C4%9Fu-t%C3%BCrkistan-fark%C4%B1ndal%C4%B1k-toplant%C4%B1s%C4%B1-d%C3%BCzenledi-davuto%C4%9Flu.</u> Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 24 | "TÜSİAD China Network," <u>https://tusiad.org/tr/cin-network</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 25 | Kabakci Fuat. (2018). "MÜSİAD, Türkiye-Çin iş birliğini perçinleyecek," October 22. <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/sirkethaberleri/vakif-dernek/musiad-turkiye-cin-is-birligini-percinleyecek/646819</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.

- 26 | Hornby, Lucy and Zalewski, Piotr (2015). "China accuses Turkey of aiding Uighurs," July 12. https://www.ft.com/content/93607210-285c-11e5-8613-e7aedbb7bdb7. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 27 | Yürük, Betül (2021) "Turkey's UN envoy responds to Chinese allegations at Syria session," <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/asia-pacific/turkeys-un-envoy-responds-to-chinese-allegations-at-syria-session/2406151</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.
- 28 | "Organization of Turkic States," <u>https://www.turkkon.org/en/turk-konseyi-hakkinda</u>. Accessed: February 22, 2022.

Contributors

Anu Anwar (Bangladesh) is a fellow at the Faculty of Arts and Sciences and an associate in research at the Fairbank Center for Chinese Studies at Harvard University. His works have appeared in *Foreign Policy, The Council on Foreign Relations, War on the Rocks, The East Asia Forum, The Diplomat, South China Morning Post,* and *The United States Institute of Peace,* among other publications. Anwar is a Ph.D. candidate at the Johns Hopkins School of Advanced International Studies. He speaks Chinese, Hindi, and Bengali.

Pamela Aróstica Fernández (Chile) is the Director of the China and Latin America Network: Multidisciplinary Approaches (REDCAEM). She holds a Ph.D. in Political Science from the Freie Universität Berlin, and a Masters in International Studies and a Bachelors in History from the University of Chile. She holds specializations through the China Council for the Promotion of International Trade (CCPIT), the Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation Forum (APEC) and the Latin America-East Asia Cooperation Forum (FOCALAE). She is an expert in Sino-Latin American relations, with an emphasis on Chile.

Evi Fitriani (Indonesia) is Professor of International Relations, Faculty of Social and Political Sciences, Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia. She was Head of the Department from 2012 to 2016. She is the co-founder of the ASEAN Study Center, Universitas Indonesia. She also holds a position on the Indonesia's Country Coordinator of the Network of East Asian Think Tanks (NEAT), the track two of the ASEAN Plus Three (APT). She helped establish the masters program on European Studies at the University in 2003. She has received more than 20 international grants and scholarships. Her research interests include Indonesia's foreign policy, ASEAN, regionalism, Asia-Europe relations, and Indonesia-Australia relations.

Oyuna Baldakova (Kazakhstan) is a research associate at the DIGISILK project at King's College London. She is also currently finishing her PhD degree at the Free University of Berlin, researching how China's Belt and Road Initiative is being institutionalised in Beijing and implemented in light of the economic, political, and social realities of Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan. Oyuna holds a Master's degree in Modern East Asian Studies at Goethe University Frankfurt in Germany. She has extensive experience in the field of international development, having interned at UNESCO Bangkok, managed an EU-funded project for Central Asia, and run communications at the International Organization of Folk Art (IOV).

Dr. Oscar M. Otele (Kenya) is a faculty member at the Department of Political Science and Public Administration at the University of Nairobi, where he chairs the Biennial International Conference on China-Africa Relations. His research interests include China-Africa relations, Chinese foreign policy and Africa's international relations. His works appear in top journals such as The South African Journal of International Affairs, African Studies Quarterly, The African Review and African Affairs (forthcoming). He has also contributed policy briefs at the Council on Foreign Relations and the South African Institute of International Affairs.

Abdul-Gafar Tobi Oshodi (Nigeria) lectures in the Department of Political Science, Lagos State University. Tobi is currently finalising a monograph entitled 'Imageries of Mao Zedong's China in Ghanaian newspapers, 1957-1976.' His research interest is centred around the "development question" in Africa with a strong bias for Africa-China relations, youth service, nation-building, research ethics and knowledge (re)production. He was recently awarded a MIASA Fellowship at the University of Ghana to work on a research project entitled "Governance from below? Non-state actors and Chinese environmental footprints in Africa – The case of Ghana."

Dr. Naser Al-Tamimi (Saudi Arabia) is a UK-based political economist and ISPI senior associate research fellow focused on the Gulf region with research interests in energy and Arab/GCC – Asia/China relations. He received his Ph.D. in international relations from Durham University in the UK, where his thesis focused on China's relations with Saudi Arabia. He has written widely on matters concerning Saudi Arabia, Gulf, and the Middle East for both academic and popular publications. He is the author of, "China-Saudi Arabia Relations, 1990-2012: Marriage of Convenience or Strategic Alliance" Routledge, 2014.

Kadir Temiz (Turkey) holds a PhD from Boğaziçi University, Atatürk Institute for Modern Turkish History. He has studied at Peking University Institute of International Studies and Foreign Language School and at Shanghai International Studies University. Temiz worked as assistant professor at İstanbul Şehir University's Department of Political Science and International Relations. He teaches Politics of East Asia, China in World Politics, Chinese Foreign Policy and Current Issues in Chinese Foreign Policy courses at İstanbul Medeniyet University and published a book, "Chinese Foreign Policy Toward the Middle East" through Routledge in 2022. He is currently a Fulbright visiting scholar at George Washington University at the Institute for European, Russian and Eurasian Studies.

Jacob Gunter, Senior Analyst Economy at MERICS, covers China's political economy, industrial policy, innovation, self-reliance, decoupling, and examines how the EU can better economically compete with China in third markets. Gunter lived and worked in China for ten years, including the most recent four years as a senior policy and communications manager at the European Union Chamber of Commerce in Beijing. He has a dual Master's degree in Sinology and International Studies from Johns Hopkins SAIS and Nanjing University through the Hopkins-Nanjing Center and a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration (BSBA) in International Business from the University of Denver Daniel's College of Business.

Helena Legarda, Lead Analyst at MERICS, focuses on China's defense and foreign policies, including their domestic sources and drivers, and their geopolitical impact. She gained professional experience at the Delegation of the European Union to China and at research and advisory firm China Policy in Beijing. Helena holds a Master in Public Policy degree with a focus on International and Global Affairs from the Harvard Kennedy School of Government and a BA in Chinese Studies from the University of Oxford. She also studied Chinese language at Peking University.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by a *Ford Foundation grant* and is licensed to the public subject to the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.

CONTACT

Jacob Gunter Senior Analyst, MERICS jacob.gunter@merics.de

Helena Legarda Lead Analyst, MERICS helena.legarda@merics.de

EDITORIAL TEAM

Claudia Wessling Director Communications and Publications, MERICS claudia.wessling@merics.de

Mary Hennock Freelance Editor

GRAPHICS AND LAYOUT

Alexandra Hinrichs, Graphic Designer, MERICS

PUBLISHER

MERICS | Mercator Institute for China Studies Klosterstraße 64 | 10179 Berlin Tel.: +49 30 3440 999 0 Mail: info@merics.de www.merics.org

www.merics.org